
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
The Democracy Service 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside 
 

Email: andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Monday 25 October 2021 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Personnel Committee 
 

The Personnel Committee will meet in the Conference Room North - 1st 
Floor, Civic Centre 3, Huddersfield, HD1 2TG at 3.00 pm on Tuesday 2 
November 2021. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Personnel Committee Members are:- 
 

 
When a Personnel Committee member cannot be at the meeting another member can 
attend in their place from the list below:- 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
A Gregg 
V Lees-Hamilton 
R Smith 
M Thompson 
N Patrick 

Green 
K Allison 

Independent 
T Lyons 
C Greaves 

Labour 
M Akhtar 
E Firth 
S Hall 
M Kaushik 
J Ramsay 
M Sokhal 

Liberal Democrat 
PA Davies 
A Marchington 
A Munro 
A Pinnock 

Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
Councillor Paul Davies 
Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor David Hall 
Councillor John Lawson 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Peter McBride 
Councillor Naheed Mather 
Councillor Cathy Scott 
Councillor John Taylor 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
The Committee will receive notice of any substitutions to 
membership or apologies for absence.  
 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 3 
March 2021. 
 

 
 

1 - 4 

3:   Interests 
 
The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion or vote upon 
the items, or any other interests. 
 

 
 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
To advise as to whether any matters will be considered in private, by 
virtue of the reports containing information which falls within a 
category of exempt information as contained at Schedule 12a of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputation/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public.  
 
A deputation is where up to five people can attend the meeting and 
make a presentation on some particular issue of concern. A member 
of the public can also hand in a petition at the meeting but that 
petition should relate to something on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 

 



 

 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation.   
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11(5), the period allowed 
for the asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Update on Recruitment Challenges 
 
To receive an update on the current recruitment challenges facing 
the Council and strategies being put in place to mitigate challenges.  
 
Contact: Deborah Lucas, Head of People Services 
 

 
 

5 - 70 

 
 



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday 3rd March 2021 
 
Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
 Councillor Graham Turner 

Councillor Naheed Mather 
Councillor Peter McBride 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor John Lawson 
Councillor Richard Murgatroyd 
Councillor Lesley Warner 

  
Apologies: Councillor David Hall 
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor D Hall. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 5 March 2020 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

3 Interests 
No interests were declared.  
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session.  
 

5 Deputation/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked.  
 

7 Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 (Reference to Council) 
The Committee received the Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022, in accordance with 
the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 (Sections 38-43), which set out detail 
regarding the pay of the Authority’s Principal Chief Officers. It was noted that 
Section 39 (1) of the Act required that the Statement be approved prior to 31 March, 
immediately preceding the relevant financial year.  
 
The (i) Kirklees Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 (ii) Remuneration of Chief Officers 
and (iii) Single Status Grades and NHS – Public Health Grades were attached as 
appendices to the report. It was noted that (iii) was subject to national pay award 
consultations.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Personnel Committee -  3 March 2021 
 

2 
 

 
RESOLVED – That the Annual Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022 be noted and 
submitted to Council with recommendation of approval.  
 

8 Update on Senior Management Arrangements 
The Committee received a report which updated the Committee on several changes 
to arrangements regarding senior management and sought approval to convene a 
number of recruitment panels. The report advised that since the appointment of 
Strategic Directors for (i) Environment and Climate Change and (ii) Growth and 
Regeneration a review had been undertaken to identify capacity to deliver upon the 
ambitions of the service and consider the concerns of the 2019 LGA Peer Review 
regarding organisational capacity.  
 
The report set out detail of the outcome of the review for both Directorates. Within 
the Environment and Climate Change Directorate this included (i) a proposal to 
realign the posts of Service Director – Environment and the Service Director – 
Highways and Property by areas of operational and strategic responsibility (ii) the 
transfer of the Council’s Visitor Economy, Culture and Tourism Services, Museums, 
Galleries and Markets to the Environment and Climate Change Directorate, along 
with Venues Services and (iii) the creation of a post of Service Director – Culture 
and Visitor Economy. With regards to the Growth and Regeneration Directorate it 
was noted that the existing Service Director posts had been realigned and were now 
Service Director – Skills and Regeneration and Service Director – Development. 
The Committee were advised that the Service Director – Skills and Regeneration 
post was currently vacant and that the role would be subject to advert. It was also 
noted that, in preparation for the transfer of Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing to the 
Council, the position of Chief Executive had been re-designated as Service Director 
– Homes and Neighbourhoods.  
 
The proposed new structures for both Directorates was appended to the considered 
report. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1) That approval be given to realigning the posts of Service Director – 
Environmental Services and Service Director – Highways and Property by 
operational and strategic areas of responsibility across the new Service 
Director Portfolios of (i) Climate Change and Environmental Strategy and (ii) 
Highways and Streetscene.  
 

2) That a new post of Service Director – Culture and Visitor Economy be 
established within the Environment and Climate Change Directorate. 

 
3) That (i) the structure implemented within the Growth and Regeneration 

Directorate to accommodate staff and functions from Kirklees Neighbourhood 
Housing and (ii) the realignment of Service Director Portfolios within the 
Growth and Regeneration Directorate be noted.  
 

4) That Member Appointment Panels be convened to recruit to the roles of (i) 
Service Director – Culture and Visitor Economy (ii) Service Director – Skills 

Page 2



Personnel Committee -  3 March 2021 
 

3 
 

and Regeneration and (iii) Service Director – Climate Change and 
Environmental Strategy.  

 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 
Name of meeting:  Personnel Committee  
Date:                       2nd November 2021  
  
Title of report: Update on Recruitment Challenges 
 
Purpose of report: To update Personnel Committee on the current recruitment 
challenges facing the Council and strategies being put in place to mitigate those 
challenges.  
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  
 

N/A 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  
 

No 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

No 
 

Date signed off by Chief Executive 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Jacqui Gedman – 25th October 2021 
 
Eamonn Croston – 25th October 2021 
 
 
Julie Muscroft – 25th October 2021 

Cabinet member portfolio 
 

Cllr Paul Davies 
  

 
Electoral wards affected: N/A 
 
Ward councillors consulted: No  
 
Public or private: Public    
 
Has GDPR been considered: Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

2 
 

 
 
 
1.0 Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 To receive an update from the Chief Executive and Head of People Services on 

recruitment challenges facing Kirklees Council and our response to mitigate those 
challenges. 

 
1.2  To note the impact of widely publicised national labour market issues on Kirklees 

Council. 
 
1.3 To note actions and strategies in place and being developed to address the 

challenges faced, with particular reference to those that also support our social 
responsibilities and outcomes for Kirklees residents.  

 
2.0 Current Labour Market 
 
2.1 There are well documented national labour market issues as we recover from the 

pandemic; the most recent Office for National statistics highlight 1.1million vacancies 
in the UK between July and September 2021; this is significantly higher than pre-
pandemic levels. Unemployment is falling and the reduction in number of overseas 
workers also has an impact on the labour market.  

 
2.2 The increase in vacancies coupled with skills shortages in some areas leads to a very 

candidate focused market and the end of the furlough scheme for over a million 
workers in October has not so far started to produce the increase in labour supply that 
could have reasonably been anticipated 

 
2.3 Kirklees Council has not escaped the impact of these national labour market issues 

which have only served to exacerbate recruitment difficulties in some typically hard to 
fill areas. Intelligence shared by our temporary staffing provider, REED, demonstrates 
that those challenges are not unique to Kirklees and at a national level, they are 
reporting: 

   
 There is a general candidate shortage across Care & Support and Trades 
 The time to fill vacancies is increasing across the board due to market challenges 
 There is a continued increase in demand for Qualified Social Workers 

 
3.0 Recruitment trends 
 
3.1 As the country moves towards recovery from the pandemic there have been some 

seismic shifts in candidate activity and expectations. Many individuals have taken the 
opportunity to consider their priorities during the pandemic and this is being 
demonstrated in market expectations and behaviours. 

 
3.2 We are facing what is being labelled the Great Resignation as individuals seek jobs 

which meet their revised expectations or indeed leave the labour market completely. 
As there are more vacancies available in the market, the ease with which job changes 
can happen is increased indicating this this is a real risk. 

 

Page 6

https://www.peoplemanagement.co.uk/voices/comment/are-uk-businesses-about-experience-great-resignation#gref


 

3 
 

3.3 In general, the labour market is seeing an increase in expectations around flexibility; 
many jobs which have traditionally been office based have been successfully 
delivered from home and candidates are generally seeking a continuation of flexible or 
hybrid working practices to reduce commute times and improve work life balance. As 
more employers are able to offer flexible working practices, it is becoming less of a 
unique employee benefit and now an expectation. 

 
3.4 Additionally, as individuals reflect on their priorities, sectors which typically have an 

older workforce, such as the public sector are indicating that ‘earlier’ retirements are 
on the increase. This is starting to become apparent in the data we are seeing in the 
Council. See Appendix 1.  

 
3.5 As the ‘war on talent’ to fill the wide range of vacancies across all industries and 

sectors develops alongside skills shortages, the market is also seeing a noticeable 
impact on pay, with market forces driving pay upwards.  

 
4.0 Kirklees Context and Hard to Recruit jobs 
 
4.1 Council recruitment has continued throughout the pandemic with a significant increase 

in the volume of recruitment activity during 2021. Whilst we did see an increase in the 
volume of applications received across most jobs, this is subsiding; there has not 
been a noticeable increase in applications for hard to fill roles. See Appendix 2 for 
comparator data on recruitment activity for 2020 and 2021. 

 
4.2 There are a number of roles that are traditionally hard to recruit to and the current 

labour market trends exacerbate difficulties in these areas: 
 

 Social Care - both children’s and adults and in particular Support Workers and 
Residential Care Officers 

 Catering and cleaning  

 Social Work – issues are more acutely felt in adults at present 

 Engineering 

 Specialist project management to support regeneration programmes  

 Some trades 
 

It is becoming increasingly apparent that jobs which have not previously been 
challenging to fill are also starting to see greater challenges. 
 

4.3 That said, we have had some areas of significant success during the pandemic, 
including the largest recruitment exercise undertaken in recent years, appointing over 
80 Covid Community Support Officers (CCSOs) in a matter of weeks. These roles 
provided job opportunities in a climate of high unemployment and opened the door to 
working within public services and the Council. A flexible and collaborative approach 
across teams and services supported a fast-paced recruitment, selection and 
onboarding process. Selection focused on communication, values, and behaviours to 
assess and give confidence that those appointed could be good ambassadors of 
Kirklees. During the pandemic the CCSOs have supported areas of work including: 
 

 Testing Centre / Vaccination centres  

 Communities – Engaging with businesses, members of the public, signposting, 
partnership working, conducting surveys  

 Food Banks / voluntary organisations  

Page 7



 

4 
 

 Driving Roles / PPE deliveries / Food Banks / Mobile testing 

 Track and Trace – conducting surveys, welfare checks, offering isolating 
support 

 Licencing – Engaging with members of the public, Business Support Roles, 
taking payments 

 Enforcement Roles – Conducting Duty of care visits, visiting waste in garden 
properties 

 Cleaning up areas, removal of fly tipping, litter picking 
 
A project is currently underway to support retention of the CCSOs in the Council, not 
only to provide a resilience pool but also to identify opportunities for them to grow into 
hard to fill roles, thus developing a talent pipeline into Kirklees. This is referenced later 
in this report. 

 
5.0 Strategies and Actions to Address the Challenges 
 
5.1 During the pandemic we have placed additional focus on our support into employment 

initiatives recognising the opportunity we have as an influential employer to lead by 
example, make a difference to the employment prospects of our residents and 
promote Kirklees as a good, flexible and inclusive employer. 

 
5.2 The brochure at Appendix 3 sets out these pathways into employment and the work 

that we have undertaken has achieved the following outcomes: 
 

 100 new apprentices (level 2 to post graduate) covering a wide range of services 
including those that have not considered apprenticeships in the past. Additional 
pastoral support has been provided to apprentices during the pandemic to support 
their retention. 

 60 Kickstarters across all service areas and a number of schools, with plans for at 
least another 40:  

 10 interns have been recruited for Project Search; an initiative which helps young 
people with learning disabilities and autism into employment, providing them with 
‘rotations’ to experience a number of different roles and working environments.  

 Around 80 year 10 students, including a cohort of children in care, have competed 
a virtual work placement with the Council. During the pandemic, we were limited in 
our ability to provide traditional work experience, so we developed a new approach 
to offer interactive ‘bite size’ introductions to the Council showcasing careers in 
areas such as engineering, registration, landscape architecture and IT. Sessions 
have included designing kitchens on budget, designing children’s play areas and 
building bridges with marshmallows. The programme also includes sessions on 
interview skills and mock interviews to support personal development of those 
attending. Feedback from schools, students and services has been positive; the 
approach will now be a long-term offer.  

 Successfully bid to be the lead partner on £1.6 million investment for Kirklees 

Apprenticeships for All  which will increase the number of apprenticeships across 
the district, not just in the Council.  

 
5.3 In relation to broader talent attraction activity, as part of the People Strategy we have 

developed a new and improved jobs and careers site launched in October to support 
showcasing Kirklees as an inclusive and flexible employer of choice and provide a 
flexible platform to focus on some hard to fill roles. The site also helps candidates to 

Page 8

http://www.kirkleesapprenticeshipsforall.co.uk/
http://www.kirkleesapprenticeshipsforall.co.uk/
https://jobs.kirklees.gov.uk/


 

5 
 

navigate the recruitment process and will provide a broader platform for materials 
including videos that have been produced to support specific recruitment campaigns. 

 
5.4 To date, a number of focused campaigns and targeted recruitment have taken place 

in hard to recruit areas. These have included: 
 

 Videos to support social care and engineering recruitment 

 Utilising specialist media and recruitment partners 

 Making best use of sites such as Indeed to broaden exposure of vacancies 

 Encouraging recruiting managers to make use of professional networks such as 
LinkedIn and professional bodies 

 
5.5 We plan to pilot online information events to support specific recruitment campaigns 

and as more careers events begin to run, we will be supporting service specific or 
council wide attendance. 

 
5.6 In addition, as part of the People Strategy programme of work, there are a number of 

projects being undertaken which will contribute to addressing our recruitment and 
retention challenges. Some of these are set out below. 

 
5.6.1 Workforce Planning 

In order to ensure that there is effective workforce planning across the Council going 
forward, there is a specific project underway that will develop and embed a consistent 
approach to workforce planning across the organisation. This will be piloted in hard to 
recruit areas and then rolled out in 2022. In the meantime, there is significant 
workforce planning activity happening across the organisation. The Executive Team 
are working hard on plans to ensure resilience and succession planning is in place in 
challenging areas, investing in strategies to ‘grow our own’.  
 
Examples include: 

 Higher level planning, environmental health, accountancy and engineering 
apprenticeships 

 Using our well established relationships with universities to provide Social 
Work, IT, transport and legal placements  

 Offering GEM Graduate opportunities (see Appendix 4) 

 Piloting an ‘apprenticeship first’ programme 
 
At a corporate level, we have a project to build on the success of the recruitment to 
CCSOs by developing a resilience pool which will become a talent pipeline into the 
organisation. This piece of work is being supported by the LGA. Appendix 5 provides 
an outline to this piece of work.  

 
5.6.2 Timewise 

This is a piece of work in partnership with Locala and an organisation called 
Timewise, where we are seeking to put flexibility at the heart of our front-line roles and 
at the heart of all our hiring activity. By putting flexibility first, we aim to capitalise on it 
as being an essential attraction and retention tool as well as supporting service 
delivery.   

 
5.6.3 Refresh of the People Strategy 
 This project has taken the learning from the pandemic and linked that to our new 

Council Plan, refreshing the look, feel and content of our People Strategy. It focuses 

Page 9



 

6 
 

on 4 key outcomes of a ‘healthy and well people’, being ‘an inclusive employer of 
choice’, having ‘highly skilled, flexible and engaged people’ and ‘effective and 
compassionate leadership’. It will be a living document supported by dynamic stories 
and case studies and will be launched during November.  

 
5.6.4 Leadership & Management Development 
 We have developed a Leadership and Management Framework to support colleagues 

to develop their leadership and management skills. This will help us to grow our own 
leaders and managers of the future and retain talent. Phase 2 of this project will look 
at a more targeted approach to developing leaders and managers and will also look at 
developing people at a more senior level. 

 
5.7 The CIPD has also very recently published a report entitled ‘Addressing Skills and 

Labour Shortages Post-Brexit’ (see Appendix 6) which examines the challenges in 
the current labour market and proposes a number of options for employers to consider 
in order to address these challenges. This report is currently being reviewed to assess 
if there are options that may help us address our particular challenges. 

 
6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 It is recommended that Personnel Committee notes the recruitment and retention 

challenges faced by the council and supports strategies and actions being undertaken 
to address these challenges.  

 
7.0 Contact Officers 
 
 Jacqui Gedman, Chief Executive 
  
 Deborah Lucas, Head of People Services 

Page 10

https://intranet.kirklees.gov.uk/My-development/Learning-and-development/Kirklees-leadership-and-managers-development.aspx


APPENDIX 1 
Leaver Data 
 
Table 1 – Turnover 2020 vs 2021 
 

Service Area 

Turnover 
September 
2020  
Exc 
Casuals 

Turnover 
September 
2021 Exc. 
Casuals % Difference Leavers 2020 Leavers 2021 Difference 

Adults & Health 6.5 7.6 1.1  104 134 30 

Chief Executive 0.0 0.0 0.0  0 0 0 

Children & Families 10.3 8.3 -2.0  99 88 -11 

Corporate Services 5.3 6.7 1.4  53 71 18 

Environment & 
Climate Change 6.8 9.4 2.6  213 279 66 

Growth & 
Regeneration* 0.0 7.2 7.2  0 62 62 

Kirklees Council 7.0 8.2 1.2  469 634 165 

* Growth & Regeneration created in September 2020 
    

 
Table 2 – Resignations and Retirement 
 

Action Reason Excl Casuals Leavers 2020 Leavers 2021 Difference 

Resigned-Other Reasons 134 230 96 

Resigned-Personal Reasons 127 114 -13 

Retired - Age Retirement 80 134 54 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Kirklees Council Recruitment 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Monthly Application Numbers

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21

New Starters by Month

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Supporting the economic recovery 
with work and skills initiatives  
- A Guide For Managers

Contents
Foreword
Employment and Skills Strategy overview
Kick Start Scheme
Apprenticeships
Supported Internships – Project SEARCH
Job Design
Virtual Work Experience 

P
age 15



Foreword
During the pandemic, some people have been 
affected more than others.

It’s affected not only the way we live but also 
livelihoods and our young people’s education.

We can play our part to support the recovery. 

More than that it’s actually a great opportunity for 
us to attract the talented and diverse workforce 
that we need to deliver our services.

So I am delighted to say we have a range of 
work and skills initiatives to allow services to be 
involved. These initiatives have been carefully 
developed to ensure you have the support you need 
as well as the individuals. 

In this brochure we are presenting all the 
information in one place to help you as a manager 
to consider your options.

I would encourage you to consider being involved 
in as many initiatives as you can.

Thank you for your anticipated support with this, 
together we can make a real difference!

 

Deborah Lucas
Head of People Services

Employment and Skills 
Strategy overview
We want to ensure Kirklees is a great place to live, 
learn and work.

We have high performing colleges, a world-class 
university and renowned innovation and training 
assets. Our diverse business base includes world-
renowned textiles manufacturers, precision 
engineering firms and a fast-growing creative 
sector.

Our Employment and Skills Plan for Kirklees 
explains how the council, working closely with 
partners across the borough, will support and 
invest in the local employment and skills system 
over the next three years. The plan draws on 
feedback from over 250 local businesses and 
education providers. 

It celebrates our past, acknowledges the unusual 
and challenging nature of the present but, most 
importantly, looks boldly ahead to a bright future.

We have a number of important learning, skills 
and employment challenges that require a 
concerted, partnership-based effort if they are to 
be addressed. This includes achieving inclusive 
growth by addressing inequalities.

The council as one of the larger employers in 
Kirklees can play its part.

P
age 16



Kickstart
Kickstart is a government-led scheme to create new 
roles for 16 to 24 year olds on Universal Credit who 
are at risk of long term unemployment. 

Employers receive funding to offer 25 hours a week 
paid work for 6 months (at national minimum wage).

Additional funding is available to cover any specific 
costs, such as equipment and training. 

A Kickstart vacancy must be a new role and should 
help a young person to gain experience through 
hands-on work and being part of a team.

To help our Kickstarters to get the best outcome we 
have put in place wrap-around support with Career 
Boost delivered by C&K Careers and a chance to 
complete a Duke of Edinburgh award.

For more details, please contact  
youth.employment@kirklees.gov.uk 

P
age 17

mailto:youth.employment%40kirklees.gov.uk%20?subject=Kickstart%20enquiry


Apprenticeships
An apprenticeship is a way for individuals to 
earn while they learn gaining valuable skills and 
knowledge in a specific job role. The apprentice 
gains this through a wide mix of learning in the 
workplace, formal off-the-job training and the 
opportunity to practise new skills in a real work 
environment. 

Hiring an apprentice is a productive and effective 
way to grow diverse talent and develop a motivated, 
skilled and qualified workforce.

Employers who have an established apprenticeship 
programme say that productivity in their workplace 
had improved by 76 percent, whilst 75 percent 
reported that apprenticeships improved the 
quality of their product or service. Other benefits 
that apprenticeships contribute towards include: 
increasing employee satisfaction, reducing staff 
turnover and reducing recruitment costs.

In the council we have a great track record for our 
apprenticeship programme with lots of services 
already involved.  

For more details, please contact  
Council.Apprenticeships@kirklees.gov.uk

P
age 18

mailto:Council.Apprenticeships%40kirklees.gov.uk?subject=Apprenticeships%20enquiry


Project Search 
Currently adults with learning disabilities make 
up just six percent of the workforce in the UK.  In 
Kirklees we have nine percent of the workforce who 
identify themselves as having a learning disability. 
We have a lot of work to do to bridge the gap of 
inequalities and disadvantage and this is why we 
have chosen to work with Project Search.

Project Search is a tried and tested programme 
that started in the US in 1996, which has since 
gone from strength to strength. It’s a twelve month 
internship programme for adults aged 18 to 25 who 
have learning difficulties and/or Autism.  The aim 
is to provide the interns both theory and practical 
experiences to get them ‘work ready’ at the end of 
the programme.  Throughout the programme the 
interns will have the opportunity to rotate into three 
different job roles that support their interests, skills 
and strengths. 

The council will be running the programme at the 
end of 2021. Services can get involved by providing 
internships and these come with full support.

For more details, please contact  
KirkleesCouncilProjectSearch@kirklees.gov.uk

P
age 19

mailto:KirkleesCouncilProjectSearch%40kirklees.gov.uk?subject=Project%20Search%20enquiry


Job Design
Job Design is focused on providing paid employment 
opportunities for adults (18+) with a learning 
disability, lasting for a maximum period of nine 
months.   

Job Design involves identification of a work 
opportunity and then looking at what an individual 
can do (their strengths, interests, skills, experience).  

A Job Design opportunity offered by a service does 
not displace existing roles.  They are additional 
opportunities for which a service must have 
available budget to support it.

This scheme is supported by REAL Employment 
which is an internal council service focused on 
identifying and supporting Realistic Employment for 
Adults with Learning Disabilities into volunteering, 
training and paid employment.

Job Design is for customers of REAL only.  REAL 
advisors use a ‘Vocational Profile’ tool which 
considers what is involved in a Job Design 
Opportunity against information held about 
individuals.  

Over the course of the nine months ‘in work’, 
support will be provided by REAL to ensure the Job 
Design opportunity is going well, and the individual 
is being supported with their next steps.

Job Design is a great opportunity for adults (18+) 
to gain valuable work experience and hopefully 
progression into other opportunities such as an 
apprenticeship, Job Carve, job within the Council 
or the Job Design opportunity could become 
permanent.

For more details contact 01484 221581 or email 
RealEmployment@kirklees.gov.uk

P
age 20

mailto:RealEmployment%40kirklees.gov.uk?subject=Job%20Design%20enquiry


Virtual Work Experience 
The pandemic has affected school pupils in Kirklees 
as it has all over the world. The impact is not just 
on classroom based activities, but also wider ones 
including work experience opportunities to support 
future work aspirations.   

Recognising this gap we have developed a virtual 
way to provide opportunities for Year 10 students, 
initially as a pilot and here is what students had  
to say:

 
“The council has many opportunities in jobs and 
there is a very wide variety of jobs to choose from.”  

 
“I would consider applying for a job in the council 
due to the amount of important work they do and the 
amount of experience they offer.”  

 
“The sessions were informative, interactive and 
enjoyable.”  

We had nearly 70 students for the second 
programme, as well as a specific programme for 
young people in care.

The response from our services has been very 
impressive with lots of innovative ideas to get their 
message across.

For more details, please contact  
WorkPlacements@kirklees.gov.uk

CASE STUDY
“I’m a Principal Engineer for the council. I presented a virtual work 
experience workshop to year 10 students from Colne Valley High, 
Upper Batley High, Westborough High and Batley Girls High earlier 
in the year.

The day was a huge success. I talked about what Civil Engineering 
is, the different specialist teams we have within highways at 
Kirklees Council, what mine and my colleagues current roles entail 
and our paths into civil engineering.  We also talked about ways 
into the industry such as the Institution of Civil Engineering (ICE) 
accredited apprentice program that we run at Kirklees Council. 
This was all finished off with a presentation about bridges. 

The afternoon was where the fun began – making bridges out of 
spaghetti and marshmallows! There were some great creations 
from the students, some of whom had definitely put some prep 
work in to make sure they created a strong bridge.

Our final group activity was a group discussion which led to some 
great suggestions. The overall lesson learned was that sometimes 
it’s good to just ask someone who knows the answer, look up 
the answer or take inspiration and use elements from something 
that you’ve done before. Not all engineering is about building the 
biggest and the best, sometimes it’s just about getting the job 
done.

What started out as quite a daunting afternoon for me – we’re all 
used to virtual meetings now but virtual work experience was 
something else entirely – was really fun and massively rewarding 
when we saw the students creations, and the attempts to break the 
bridges by piling more and more objects onto them! 

Hopefully we’ll have inspired at least one young person to think 
about pursuing a career in Engineering, but even if we’ve had the 
opposite effect and ruled it out for some, then in my mind it was 
still worthwhile as we’ve helped to concentrate minds on their 
future choices.”

Louise Hewlett

Principal Engineer

P
age 21

mailto:WorkPlacements%40kirklees.gov.uk?subject=Virtual%20Work%20Experience%20enquiry


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
 

 

                                                 

GRADUATE OPPORTUNITY AT KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

Are you ambitious, hard-working, and passionate about making a difference to communities? If 

so, a great opportunity to work, learn and grow has arisen to join Kirklees Council as a 

Graduate Trainee in the Housing Growth Team. 

Kirklees Council has ambitious plans for housing development and regeneration and have 

launched an ambitious housing development programme to build 10,000 homes by 2023 of 

which at least 1,000 will be on council-owned land.  

About the Housing Growth Team 

We are responsible for delivering the district’s ambitious Housing Growth Plan by working with 

key partners, services, developers, and funders to unlock sites and build new homes, which in 

turn support the wider growth of the district. We focus on the process of preparing for and 

facilitating development e.g., feasibility, planning applications, funding, procurement and 

contracts, rather than on construction project management. Our driving force is the huge 

satisfaction which comes from knowing that our work makes a tangible difference to our 

residents and businesses. 

About the role 

Working alongside a team of 17 experienced and imaginative colleagues, you’ll work on a range 

of projects with a focus on site development and gaining project management skills.  You’ll learn 

about sites, assessing housing need, and helping to secure planning permission and supporting 

the procurement of development partners. You’ll have opportunities to work on strategic urban 

extensions, specialist housing, and the repurposing of landmark and historic buildings, amongst 

many other things. You’ll work across a number of Council departments, with elected members 

and external partners, to deal with all facets of the housing development process. You’ll be 

supported and encouraged to step out of your comfort zone. 

About you 

You’ll have a degree (in any subject); have a positive can-do approach and a real desire to learn 

and develop. You’ll have strong communication skills and the ability to build relationships. If this 

sounds like you, we’d love to hear from you.  

Salary: circa £20-21k + benefits  

Length of contract: 24 months  

Location: West Yorkshire 

Visit the GEM Programme’s Website to find out more about the role and to apply. Hear from 

Freya, who joined Kirklees Council through the GEM Programme. 

Closing Date for Applications: 8 November 2021 

Page 23

https://thegemprogramme.com/
https://youtu.be/nOFVHsmuHby
https://youtu.be/nOFVHsmuHby


This page is intentionally left blank



ADDRESSING 
SKILLS AND 
LABOUR 
SHORTAGES 
POST-BREXIT 

Report 
October 2021 Page 25



The CIPD is the professional body for HR and people 
development. The registered charity champions better work 
and working lives and has been setting the benchmark for 
excellence in people and organisation development for 
more than 100 years. It has more than 160,000 members 
across the world, provides thought leadership through 
independent research on the world of work, and offers 
professional training and accreditation for those working in 
HR and learning and development.

Page 26



 1 

Addressing skills and labour shortages 
post-Brexit 
 

 

Contents 
1 Introduction ............................................................................................................. 2 
2 Executive summary ................................................................................................. 3 
3 Policy implications ................................................................................................... 5 

Adapting the Youth Mobility Scheme ...................................................................... 5 
Unlocking skill potential ........................................................................................... 6 

4 Employer recommendations .................................................................................... 8 
Pay and financial wellbeing ..................................................................................... 9 
Employment contracts ............................................................................................ 9 
Recruitment channels, methods and groups ........................................................... 9 
Flexible working/inclusion and diversity ................................................................ 10 
Employee relations and wellbeing ......................................................................... 11 
Learning and development.................................................................................... 11 

5 Overview of labour and skills shortages ................................................................ 12 
Employers’ response to recruitment difficulties ..................................................... 14 
Labour supply ....................................................................................................... 15 

6 A perspective of low-paying sectors ...................................................................... 17 
Retail ..................................................................................................................... 17 
Transport and storage ........................................................................................... 20 
Social care ............................................................................................................ 23 
Food processing ................................................................................................... 26 
Hospitality ............................................................................................................. 27 
Construction .......................................................................................................... 31 
Jobseeker group ................................................................................................... 34 

Appendix 1: Survey method ..................................................................................... 37 
Appendix 2: Industry-specific focus groups .............................................................. 38 
 

 

Acknowledgements 
This report was written by Gerwyn Davies at the CIPD. We would like to thank 
colleagues who carried out interviews and the many employers who took part in the 
research for this report. These include the 2,021 establishments that responded to 
the survey and the organisations that took part in the national, regional and industry-
specific groups. In addition, we would like to thank the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy who helped fund the project. 

Page 27



 2 

Publication information 
When citing this report, please use the following citation: 

Davies, G. (2021) Addressing skills and labour shortages post-Brexit. London: 
Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. 

1 Introduction 
The re-emergence of rising labour shortages has become one of the most important, 
fast-moving and debated issues affecting the UK economy. In a matter of months, 
media stories have switched from unsuccessful job applicants applying for hundreds 
of jobs to employers struggling to fill vacancies, especially in low-paying sectors. 
Often based on employer surveys and anecdotal reports, these stories commonly 
cite Brexit and the pandemic as key factors behind the labour shortages. And while it 
seems plausible that these factors are contributing to labour shortages, it also seems 
highly likely that many of these labour shortages pre-date the pandemic. 

Additionally, despite reports of employees regaining bargaining power as a result of 
demand, other labour market indicators point to more slack. These include total 
hours worked, which remain below pre-pandemic levels, and 1.3 million workers who 
were still furloughed1 on 31 August 2021, a month before the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme (CJRS) closed. 

Furthermore, the proportion of the workforce in temporary employment that would 
like a permanent job has risen sharply since the onset of the pandemic (up by 
134,000 or 34%). This has been accompanied by a rise in involuntary part-time 
employment during the same period (up by 85,000 or 9.5%). Looking ahead, it 
remains to be seen whether some of the additional shortages being reported will 
continue after the CJRS unwinds and the effects of the pandemic ease. 

A more critical assessment of employers’ perception of skill and labour shortages 
therefore needs to be carried out. Such an examination needs to provide both a 
critical analysis of employers’ claims about labour shortages in low-paying sectors in 
terms of the quality and quantity of labour supply and the range of HR practices 
adopted by employers.  

These include the options available to employers for attracting and retaining more 
UK job applicants. For example, raising wages, increasing training, and enhancing 
flexible working opportunities, as well as widening recruitment channels to reach a 
more diverse range of candidates. It will also be important to understand the different 
ways in which these options are constrained in specific roles, sectors and regions, as 
well as the perspectives and attitudes of jobseekers themselves, especially young 
jobseekers who are more likely to apply for entry-level roles in these sectors.  

This report thus aims to provide this qualitative examination of the labour market in 
the context of the pandemic and the recent introduction of migration restrictions. Its 
key motivations are both to assess the true extent of the re-emergence of labour 
shortages, the underlying factors behind them, and to understand how employers 
are coping with and responding to them. 

 
1 ONS. (2021) Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics: 7 October 2021. London: Office for 
National Statistics. 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-7-october-2021/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-7-october-2021


 3 

To explore this, the report used sector-specific focus groups in low-paying industries. 
These were selected partly based on the high proportion of EU workers employed in 
them. Given that the current interest in labour shortages is concentrated in low-
paying sectors, the sectors were also chosen because they pay a relatively large 
share of workers less than two-thirds of national median earnings. 

These were complemented by two jobseeker focus groups, to examine their views 
about the attractiveness of those industries and their attitudes to the hard-to-fill 
vacancies that have been identified by employers. These help provide more insight 
on UK workers’ attitudes towards certain key occupations that employers find difficult 
to recruit. As employer surveys consistently show, the main reason employers in 
these industries hire migrant workers is because they typically do not attract 
sufficient applications from UK workers.2 

The CIPD also ran a series of regional roundtables with members in Scotland, 
Northern Ireland and the North of England to ascertain whether there are any 
specific recruitment challenges they face. By and large, we found commonalities 
across sectors rather than geographies, although some of our public policy 
recommendations would need to be implemented by the respective devolved 
administrations. 

In addition, the CIPD commissioned a YouGov survey of more than 2,000 employers 
that is representative of UK employment. The survey provides basic measures of 
both anticipated change in employment demand and labour supply pressures, most 
notably the overall incidence of recruitment difficulties and the number of applicants 
per vacancy by skill level. 

This report therefore looks to provide an evidence-based and analytical approach to 
assessing labour shortages and discusses the implications for employers as well as 
the Government’s immigration and skills policies. 

2 Executive summary 
The report highlights several issues that are critical to our understanding of labour 
shortages and to debates about sensible policy responses.  

First, it is clear that labour shortages are rising, but these are restricted to a narrower 
range of occupations and industries – such as hospitality, arts and recreation and 
transport and storage – than many commentators suggest. As both the survey data 
and focus group discussions illustrate, the incidence of labour shortages in many 
low-paying sectors is no more prevalent than before the pandemic in the vast 
majority of cases.  

This is related to the second issue, which is that there are positive signals that some 
employers, mainly larger ones, have become better at sourcing labour from the 
domestic workforce. Upskilling and apprenticeships are the most popular responses 
to labour shortages. Raising wages is another popular tactic used by employers, 
although many feel that this is unviable or unworkable in their sector, especially 
hospitality and social care.  

 
2 CIPD. (2018) Labour Market Outlook – Winter 2017–18. London: Chartered Institute of Personnel 
and Development. 

Page 29

https://cipd.soutron.net/Portal/DownloadImageFile.ashx?fieldValueId=2002


 4 

Other tactics include offering a wider range of flexible working arrangements, 
developing career paths for those in entry-level roles and developing relationships 
with local education institutions. However, this is offset by a tail of employers who 
are either in denial about labour shortages or in ‘wait and see mode’ in terms of a 
response.  

Many employers did express enthusiasm for the potential role apprenticeships could 
play in offsetting labour or skill shortages in the future. Yet, some organisations 
expressed concern about the lack of in-house resources or capability to take 
advantage of this potential talent pipeline. Others still, said that apprenticeships were 
not relevant to their sector. 

On top of this, there is a perception among some employers that the quality of labour 
supply or candidates is inferior compared with before the pandemic. Some focus 
groups pointed to the reduction in labour supply from the EU as a factor – most 
notably in hospitality and transport and storage, sectors which are particularly reliant 
on EU workers. The observation is consistent with official data. The UK Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) estimates that 38,000 fewer EU-born citizens were working 
in the UK in the third quarter of 2021 compared with same period in 2020.  

This trend is also important to the debate about labour shortages in low-paying 
sectors because EU nationals had not been subject to skill requirements until 
recently. Taken together, these developments are likely to have had a 
disproportionate impact on specific hard-to-fill occupations in the most affected 
sectors.3  

Some commentators have speculated that the rise in youth unemployment and a fall 
in the stock of EU nationals could provide a useful match. However, the results of the 
young, unemployed jobseeker groups reaffirms the negative perception many 
jobseekers have of low-paying industries despite the pandemic. It was a very 
common view among our two groups of young jobseekers that the six low-paying 
industries covered in this report represented jobs that involved hard work, low pay 
and insecure work which offered little prospect of progression. Likewise, the 
employer focus groups also reinforced previous research that showed the 
unattractiveness of the role or sector as the most significant factor behind labour 
shortages.  

On the upside, it seems that some young people would be prepared to endure low 
pay for a period provided that suitable training opportunities and promotion 
possibilities were provided. This suggests that the tactic to raise wages, and in some 
cases, to offer ‘golden hello’ financial incentives to join an organisation, needs to be 
broadened to attract more applicants. 

Despite the efforts of some employers to increase interest in roles, it is clear that 
some could also improve their HR practices. The research shows that some 
employers in low-wage industries are constricted to a narrow range of recruitment 
channels and labour pools. For instance, the transport and storage sector is heavily 
reliant on recruitment agencies and temporary workers. This is despite the 
importance many young, unemployed jobseekers attach to job security according to 
both young jobseeker focus groups. The most recent official data shows that virtually 

 
3 For example, recent ONS data on HGV drivers by nationality showed that the number of EU citizens 
working as HGV drivers in the UK was 25,000 (down by 14,000 or 36%).  

Page 30

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/adhocs/13633hgvdriversbynationality


 5 

all the extra jobs since the onset of the pandemic have been for temporary staff (up 
by 136,000 or 9%) even as the proportion of the workforce in temporary employment 
that would like a permanent job rose sharply during the same period (up by 134,000 
or 34%). It therefore appears that inadequate people management and development 
practices are a key under-reported factor behind the shortages reported by some 
employers.  

In addition, relatively few employers are aware of or have the resources or expertise 
to take advantage of various government initiatives, such as the Kickstart Scheme, 
or changes to immigration policy, to adopt more sophisticated measures for making 
fuller use of all available workers. Indeed, across the majority of sectors, very few 
have engaged with local colleges or introduced apprenticeships to offset the fall in 
interest from jobseekers.  

The research overall suggests that many employers in low-pay sectors struggle to 
develop effective people management and development practices, and would benefit 
from publicly funded business support. This would help them develop their capability 
in this area and bolster their ability to improve working conditions and progression, 
and recruit and retain a more diverse workforce. It could also support efforts to boost 
workplace productivity, with ONS data suggesting that people management practices 
such as training, performance management and progression are the management 
practices more strongly correlated with firm-level productivity.4 These are also the 
management practices most strongly associated with firms that undertake more R&D 
activity, suggesting a positive link to innovation.5 

3 Policy implications 
There is an urgent case for more government intervention and policy changes in light 
of these findings. 

Adapting the Youth Mobility Scheme 
First, the findings present a case for at least a temporary relaxation of immigration 
rules for a limited range of sectors and occupations in hospitality and transport and 
storage. 

While some commentators have suggested a visa scheme for particular industries, a 
preferable option would be to extend the existing Youth Mobility Scheme (YMS) to 
EU nationals. Under the scheme, EU nationals aged between 18 and 30 could be 
allowed to live and work in the UK for two years without a job offer. The system 
would provide a safety valve for employers who have seen the loss of EU nationals 
in their workforce compound the disruption to apprenticeship and recruitment activity 
since the onset of the pandemic, that has led to a concentration of rising labour 
shortages.  

The attractions of this approach are that it is less costly, less administratively 
burdensome and helps overcome the low awareness of and expertise in the new 
immigration system demonstrated by employers in this report, especially SMEs, for 

 
4 ONS. (2018) Management practices and productivity in British production and services industries – 
initial results from the Management and Expectations Survey: 2016. London: Office for National 
Statistics.  
5 ONS. (2021) Management practices and innovation, Great Britain. London: Office for National 
Statistics. 

Page 31

https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/work/skills/youth-employment-training
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/brexit-hub
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/experimentaldataonthemanagementpracticesofmanufacturingbusinessesingreatbritain/2018-04-06
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/experimentaldataonthemanagementpracticesofmanufacturingbusinessesingreatbritain/2018-04-06
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/economicoutputandproductivity/productivitymeasures/articles/managementpracticesandinnovationgreatbritain/2021-08-23#better-managed-firms-are-more-likely-to-engage-in-research-and-development-rd


 6 

whom industry or occupation-specific schemes are difficult to navigate. Employers’ 
needs could further be met by ‘nudging’ EEA youth mobility workers towards 
industries and specific hard-to-fill vacancies that have particular constraints. These 
include social care, whose pay structures offer very limited scope for altering rates of 
pay; and food production, where recruitment difficulties are often caused by location 
and the unattractiveness of the role. 

To meet the broader policy drive to improve the skills of the home-grown workforce 
and control immigration, a formal monthly cap on the number of people that can 
participate in the scheme could also be introduced. This would operate flexibly and 
could be fine-tuned to meet changing economic and labour market conditions. It 
would also address the specific, current concern that labour shortages in these 
sectors may be temporary, especially given the recent closure of the furlough 
scheme. This measure would enable most organisations to meet their workforce 
needs without undermining the Government’s policy objectives. 

Unlocking skill potential 
A change in skills policy could also help unlock the potential of jobseekers and 
existing or furloughed employees who may wish to change careers. 

Apprenticeships 
First, given the enthusiasm some employers have shown towards apprenticeships in 
response to recruitment difficulties, it seems clear that apprenticeships could play 
a stronger role in addressing labour shortages. 

Improving the supply of apprentices is an urgent priority given the severe disruption 
to apprenticeship activity last year. Apprenticeship starts in England fell by around 
50% between April and June 2020 compared with a year earlier – the fall being 
largest among young people (a 70% fall).6 The fall in Scotland was even sharper. In 
addition, the drop in apprenticeship starts was disproportionately large in many of the 
low-paying industries covered by this study, such as construction. 

There are several ways of boosting start numbers, including making apprenticeships 
more attractive to candidates. One way of improving perceptions of apprenticeships 
would be to increase the Apprentice Rate (currently £4.30). The Apprentice Rate is 
due to see a relatively sharp increase from April 2022, when it is due to align with the 
16–17-year-old rate (£4.62).7 However, the widespread perception among young, 
unemployed jobseekers is that the Apprentice Rate is too low.  

In addition, given that more than three-fifths of apprenticeships go to existing 
employees,8 the Government could also make apprenticeship incentives more 
generous and better targeted. This could be achieved by further extending the 
temporary £3,000 employer incentive for hiring an apprentice to the end of 2022 
and restricting it for use by SMEs to take on young people aged under 25 as 
apprentices. 

 
6 LPC. (2020) National Minimum Wage. London: Low Pay Commission. 
7 The current NMW rate for 16–17-year-olds is £4.62 an hour compared with £4.30 an hour for 
apprentices. 
8 DfE. (2020) Apprenticeships Evaluation 2018–19 – Learners. London: Department for Education. 

Page 32

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942062/LPC_Report_2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875553/Apprenticeships_Evaluation_-_Learner_Report.pdf


 7 

Reforming the Apprenticeship Levy into a training levy 

Training activity could also be boosted by reforming the Apprenticeship Levy into 
a broader more flexible, training levy. This could help employers invest in other 
forms of accredited training that are prerequisites for specific hard-to-fill vacancies, 
such as a CPC certificate (Driver Certificate of Professional Competence) for drivers, 
or NVQs in care for support workers in social care. It would also help organisations 
who say that they don’t have the resources or expertise to use the Apprenticeship 
Levy to support training activity. The case for broadening the levy is reinforced by the 
lack of awareness shown by employers about the range of roles that they could use 
apprenticeships for and the view of employers who operate across more than one 
nation of the UK. They complain that they cannot fund apprenticeship activity 
through the Apprenticeship Levy while others bemoaned the administrative 
complexity between the different requirements in England and the devolved nations. 

Additionally, data from the CIPD’s summer 2021 Labour Market Outlook survey of 
2,000 employers showed that nearly three in ten (28%) large employers with 250 or 
more staff said that this change would boost their engagement with further education 
providers. The change would ensure public funding continues to support 
apprenticeship provision where appropriate but is more flexible and better tailored to 
both employer and learner needs. It would also mean that employers are no longer 
incentivised to utilise their levy money by spending it on very expensive, generic 
management apprenticeships at a time when fewer apprenticeships proportionally 
are going to young people, in areas where there are skill or labour shortages.9 
Management training is crucial but should be delivered in more flexible and cost-
effective ways rather than via publicly funded apprenticeships. 

Improved business support, particularly for SMEs 
In recognition of the typically basic standard of people management among 
participating firms – particularly SMEs – and the value of improving practice 
identified, there is a strong case for the provision of publicly-funded business support 
on HR and people management and development. This could be complemented by 
support to help business leaders and managers consider changes in business 
strategy and in how to invest in technology to improve job quality and boost 
productivity. An integrated business support consultancy service encompassing 
these areas could deliver bespoke advice and help capability-building, recognising 
that the challenges and needs of individual firms will be very different.  
This type of consultancy service – based on the flexible model used in the CIPD’s 
People Skills HR support pilot schemes, and subject to demand – could provide up 
to 40,000 participating firms with up to two-days each of free ‘pump-priming’ 
business consultancy support a year via the Growth Hub network at a cost of about 
£60m a year.  

In the context of this report, a key attraction of this scheme is that it would help many 
more employers to understand their skill development needs and enable them to 
engage more meaningfully with the further education (FE) and training system. For 
example, it could provide more SMEs with the additional support they need to take 
on apprentices. More broadly, this type of support would enhance firms’ people 

 
9 ‘Apprenticeship Levy has failed on every measure and will undermine investment in skills and 
economic recovery without significant reform, says CIPD’, 1 March 2021, CIPD press release. 

Page 33

https://www.cipd.co.uk/Images/labour-market-outlook-summer-2021_tcm18-99641.pdf
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/small-business/people-skills
https://www.cipd.co.uk/about/media/press/010321apprenticeship-levy-reform-budget
https://www.cipd.co.uk/about/media/press/010321apprenticeship-levy-reform-budget


 8 

management practices to improve how they recruit, manage and develop a more 
diverse workforce. It also could generate more demand for investment in technology 
and the development of jobs requiring more specialist skills, such as the use of 
digital technology or marketing, creating more higher-skilled and higher-paid jobs 
and progression opportunities, while improving firm productivity. It could also provide 
a pipeline for the Government’s Help to Grow management scheme for SME 
business leaders with a further appetite to improve their business through a more in-
depth programme of support. 

Improved people management capability linked to productivity and 
innovation 
 
The importance of effective management to firm-level productivity and 
innovation was highlighted by the 2019 government-sponsored Business 
Productivity Review, which noted: ‘Good management is often the key enabler 
to driving up firm-level productivity and can be the stepping stone to businesses 
adopting other productivity improvements such as digital adoption and better 
working practices.’ Analysis by the OECD10 also identifies low managerial 
quality as a key factor in curbing the rate of adoption of new technologies. 

 

Continuing existing employment schemes 
Hiring levels could be further boosted by a continuation of various employment 
schemes, such as financial incentives for traineeships and the Kickstart Scheme to 
the end of 2022. An especially worrying observation from employers was that many 
job applicants were unsuitable and too inexperienced for even relatively low-skilled 
roles. This suggests that either the employability of jobseekers is deficient and/or 
that the cost of employing them is too high relative to their labour market value. A 
further extension of these schemes, which were highly valued by some of the firms 
participating in this research, would help address some of these concerns.  

The current labour market difficulties could yet prove to be a useful wake-up call and 
turning point for employers and Government – to invest in the future of the domestic 
workforce. This will be vital both to help maintain labour supply and to improve the 
employment prospects of jobseekers, especially young people. However, even with 
the right changes to skills policy and business support, this shift will take time and 
may require further flexibility to immigration policy in the short to medium term to 
enable this transition without growth-inhibiting skill and labour shortages holding 
back the economy.  

4 Employer recommendations 
The case studies and in-depth interviews show that some employers are succeeding 
in sourcing labour from the domestic workforce. However, they also show how a 
failure at times to adopt even fairly basic people management and development 
practices is hampering recruitment, and just as importantly, the retention of workers 

 
10 Andrews, D., Nicoletti, G. and Timiliotis, C. (2018) Digital technology diffusion: a matter of 
capabilities, incentives or both? Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme
https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=ECO/WKP(2018)24&docLanguage=En
https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=ECO/WKP(2018)24&docLanguage=En


 9 

among some employers. This section discusses in more detail where there is scope 
for improvements in people management and development to help address skill and 
labour shortages. 

Pay and financial wellbeing 
Not surprisingly, low wages came through as a significant reason for why jobseekers 
did not find certain sectors and jobs attractive. While employers have to manage 
workforce investment carefully, they should also calculate fully the costs of low 
wages in terms of the difficultly of hiring staff, higher levels of turnover and additional 
training costs. Once these costs are factored in, more employers might find they are 
able to afford to pay the Real Living Wage, for example.  

Besides taking efforts to maximise wages, employers can take steps to support 
employees’ financial wellbeing, such as providing benefits that help to extend the 
purchasing power of the pay packets of low-waged workers, say, by providing loans 
for season tickets or bikes. Organisations can also include benefits that protect 
employee earnings, such as occupational sick pay or paid bereavement leave. 
Employers might additionally consider offering an employee assistance programme 
which can provide financial advice or emergency financial support, such as a 
financial hardship loan or early earned wage access. 

Employment contracts 
Another area where many of the employers taking part in the research could improve 
on is how they use temporary and atypical workers.  

The use of non-standard employment contracts can be useful to employers if they 
face flexible or uncertain demand for goods or services. They can also suit workers 
who need maximum flexibility or those who are not looking for permanent 
employment.  

However, the evidence from the jobseeker focus groups suggests that for most 
unemployed people, permanent employment is much more preferable to a temporary 
job. This should be taken into account by employers when recruiting to address 
labour shortages at a time when the most recent ONS figures11 suggest that virtually 
all the extra jobs since the onset of the pandemic have been for temporary staff (up 
by 136,000 or 9%).  

Employers can benefit from considerable workforce flexibility through adopting more 
flexible working practices for permanent employees, which can reduce the need to 
employ temporary or other types of atypical workers (discussed below). 

Where use of non-permanent staff is needed, the CIPD has developed best practice 
guidance to ensure that the flexibility in atypical working arrangements works for 
both parties and that there is clarity over employment status and rights.  

Recruitment channels, methods and groups 
Recruitment is another key area where employers could improve practice. Evidence 
from this report shows that some employers are constricted to a narrow range of 
recruitment channels and approaches. The survey data and focus groups find a 

 
11 EMP01 SA: Full-time, part-time and temporary workers (seasonally adjusted), 12 October 2021, 
Office for National Statistics. 

Page 35

https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/work/trends/atypical-working-guide
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/work/trends/atypical-working-guide
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/fulltimeparttimeandtemporaryworkersseasonallyadjustedemp01sa


 10 

reliance in certain low-paying sectors on recruitment consultancies and job boards in 
particular.  

Relatively few have developed in-house strategies that seek to engage with local 
groups or potential recruits through word of mouth or building links with local schools 
or further education colleges. In addition, hardly any employers report that they have 
specifically targeted under-utilised groups, such as ex-offenders, refugees, or those 
with disabilities, to help offset labour shortages.  

Employers could further broaden their approach to recruitment by ensuring that they 
don’t unnecessarily require candidates to have qualifications but focus on ensuring 
that they have the necessary skills and potential to fulfil the role.  

A focus on strengths-based recruitment, which helps match candidates who have 
particular aptitudes or abilities to roles where there is a need for particular skills, can 
also improve inclusion and diversity. For example, candidates on the autism 
spectrum may have particular aptitude for tasks such as data processing but may fail 
some standard competency-based selection processes.12  

Ensuring job descriptions are clearly demarcated into ‘must-have’ and ‘nice-to-have’ 
skills and experience can help prevent employers losing out on people with valuable 
skills.  

Advertising jobs as flexible is a further important way of attracting a more diverse 
range of candidates (see below). 

Flexible working/inclusion and diversity  
Another area where employers should seek to improve people management practice 
is inclusion and diversity. This is highlighted by the absence of any reference by 
employers in this research to efforts to broaden their ability to recruit by taking steps 
to increase inclusion and diversity. Many jobseekers, however, cited working for an 
employer that valued inclusion and diversity as a priority for them. This suggests that 
organisations could help attract staff through a greater focus on this area. Making 
changes to how organisations reach and recruit a wider range of candidates is one 
aspect of attracting a more diverse workforce, as referenced above.  

Flexible working practices are another important way for employers to attract and, 
just as importantly, retain a more diverse range of employees. The importance of 
flexible working came through strongly in the jobseeker focus groups, with young 
unemployed people particularly enthusiastic for different flexible working 
arrangements. This was not matched, however, by employers’ intention to create 
more flexible jobs and working arrangements.  

The availability of more flexible working arrangements – besides being attractive to 
younger workers – is also likely to prove especially important to older workers, those 
who have caring responsibilities and people with disabilities or long-term or 
fluctuating health conditions.  

Training managers to manage people properly, including getting to know the people 
in their teams as individuals and managing them fairly and consistently regardless of 

 
12 CIPD. (2018) Neurodiversity at work. London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. 

Page 36

https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/people/line-manager
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/relations/diversity/neurodiversity-work


 11 

their personal characteristics, is also crucial if working environments are to be 
genuinely inclusive and to underpin retention.  

Employee relations and wellbeing  
An area that did not feature strongly in the employer interviews and focus groups 
was the importance of good line management – ensuring line managers are 
equipped with the necessary skills to manage and develop people.  

However, CIPD research consistently highlights the key role of the line manager in 
underpinning employee engagement and wellbeing. For example, data cited in a 
recent joint CIPD/Acas report on people management showed that the behaviours of 
line managers decide to a large extent whether employees are satisfied with their 
jobs and are properly directed and motivated. The report also shows effective people 
management is central to managing and preventing conflict and stress, as well as 
supporting people’s wellbeing and work–life balance.  

Furthermore, there is consensus in workplace learning research literature13 that line 
managers are pivotal in creating work cultures and environments that support 
learning and progression, a point that is explored further below. 

Despite the evidence on the central importance of line managers, only about 40% of 
managers typically receive any training in managing people, according to CIPD 
research,14 suggesting its value is often not recognised by business leaders. 

Besides a focus on developing line managers’ people management capability, 
employers should ensure there are effective direct and indirect mechanisms for 
employee voice, for example through employee or union representatives.  

Effective voice contributes to building trust with employees, innovation, productivity 
and organisational improvement. For employees, self-expression in voice often 
results in feeling valued, increased job satisfaction, greater influence and better 
opportunities for development.  

Learning and development  
The importance of career progression to jobseekers came through strongly in the 
jobseeker focus groups, suggesting that employers who can provide more 
opportunities for development and promotion will be more successful in attracting 
and retaining workers.  

There are many factors that support progression, including job design, the role of the 
line manager and flexibility, which can allow people to balance home and work 
responsibilities without undermining their career development and promotion 
opportunities. 

Of course, another central factor supporting progression is the extent workers are 
able to benefit from both formal and informal training and development to build the 
skills they need to progress and earn more.  

 
13 Felstead, A. and Unwin, L. (2016) Learning outside the formal system – what learning happens in 
the workplace, and how is it recognised? London: Government Office for Science. 
14 Suff, R. (2020) Managing conflict in the modern workplace. London: Chartered Institute of 
Personnel and Development. 

Page 37

https://www.gmgoodemploymentcharter.co.uk/media/1494/soft-skills-in-hard-times_why-good-people-management-matters-more-than-ever.pdf
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/relations/communication/voice-factsheet
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590493/skills-lifelong-learning-workplace.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590493/skills-lifelong-learning-workplace.pdf
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/relations/disputes/managing-workplace-conflict-report


 12 

Consequently, employers should provide training opportunities for all staff to ensure 
they are fully competent for their role, to drive engagement and productivity, and to 
equip them for any available progression opportunities. Line managers in particular 
need to recognise their critical role in coaching and supporting people in their team 
to develop and progress.  

Employers should also communicate clearly to employees any opportunities for 
progression and signpost them to suitable skills and learning development outside 
the workplace, such as through the local further education college.  

Organisations can also make clear to candidates when they are advertising roles 
where progression may lie. The research found some useful examples of employers 
in low-paying sector seeking to recruit and retain workers by offering a route from 
elementary occupations to more highly skilled occupations. One example of this was 
a retail company that has introduced a ‘from warehouse to driver’ initiative that is 
designed to offset labour shortages and retain existing workers.  

Additionally, more resources could be directed towards employees or potential 
employees, such as self-assessment tools that gauge the user’s employability and 
help provide personalised training plans. Other resources could include e-learning 
programmes, with expert videos, tutorials, and articles covering key aspects of 
employability and career development. 

5 Overview of labour and skills shortages 
This section of the report explores the overall extent of recruitment difficulties, 
drawing on the CIPD’s Labour Market Outlook – Summer 2021 survey of more than 
2,000 employers. We will also focus on the specific sectors examined in this report, 
although there are limitations – most notably having to subsume both food 
manufacturing into the broader manufacturing category and social care into health 
and social care. More details about the survey methodology can be found in 
Appendix 1. Another important consideration is the timing of the fieldwork, which 
took place between 16 June and 12 July 2021, and hence does not reflect the rapid 
expansion in hiring that seems to have taken place in August and September.  

When looking at the overall population of employers, including those who have not 
reported any current vacancies, the share of organisations with hard-to-fill vacancies 
is modestly higher compared with recent years. The survey data shows that the 
proportion of employers with hard-to-fill vacancies had risen to 39% from 26% in 
2020. Pre-pandemic, this figure was 36% in 2019 and 39% in 2018. Recruitment 
difficulties are most prevalent in hospitality (51%), health and social care (49%) and 
manufacturing (47%). However, the incidence of recruitment difficulties is lower in 
many of the sectors covered by this study compared with the all-survey average. 
These sectors include construction (37%), transport and storage (36%) and retail 
(31%).  

  

Page 38

https://www.cipd.co.uk/Images/labour-market-outlook-summer-2021_tcm18-99641.pdf


 13 

Figure 1: Proportion of organisations with hard-to-fill vacancies (%)  

 
Base: total: n=2,042; private: n=1,473; public: n=352; voluntary: n=217  

Source: Labour Market Outlook – Summer 2021 (CIPD) 

The findings underline anecdotal reports that recruitment difficulties have risen 
sharply in all low-paying industries over the past year (Figure 2). However, the 
prevalence of hard-to-fill vacancies in these sectors is broadly consistent with pre-
pandemic levels, apart from hospitality, arts and recreation. This suggests that the 
vast majority of labour shortages are chronic and structural.   
Figure 2: Proportion of organisations with hard-to-fill vacancies (%)  

 
Source: Labour Market Outlook (CIPD) 

It should be added that since the survey was conducted, the number of vacancies 
reported in the official ONS data has risen to four-year highs in each of the low-
paying industries, apart from retail,15 alongside the phasing out of the furlough 
scheme (Figure 3).   

 
15 VACS02: Vacancies by industry, 12 October 2021. Office for National Statistics. 

Page 39

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peoplenotinwork/unemployment/datasets/vacanciesbyindustryvacs02


 14 

Figure 3: Vacancy trends since the beginning of the pandemic (by industry) 

 
Source: Labour Force Survey (ONS) 

Employers’ response to recruitment difficulties 
The vast majority of organisations currently experiencing recruitment difficulties are 
taking steps to tackle them. As Figure 4 illustrates, upskilling remains at the forefront 
of organisations’ approaches to tackling recruitment difficulties. Almost half (44%) of 
employers said they plan to upskill existing staff to help offset hard-to-fill vacancies. 
Public sector organisations (53%) were significantly more likely than private sector 
organisations (42%) to be planning to upskill existing staff to address hard-to-fill 
vacancies. In terms of the sectors covered in this study, upskilling is most prevalent 
among health and social care (56%) and construction employers (49%).  

Other popular employer responses include hiring more apprentices (26%), raising 
wages (23%), recruiting more UK graduates (20%) and improving job quality (14%). 
The proportion of establishments planning to increase apprenticeships is higher in 
manufacturing (35%), construction (33%), transport and storage (30%) and 
hospitality than the all-survey average. 

These findings are broadly consistent with the Labour Market Outlook – Summer 
2018 report, which found that the three most popular responses to recruitment 
difficulties were upskilling existing staff (47%), hiring more apprentices (26%) and 
hiring more graduates (26%). Mirroring recent media reports of rising pay pressures, 
the share of organisations planning to increase wages has increased from 16% in 
summer 2018 to 23% in summer 2021. Indeed, raising wages is a popular option 
among many low-wage sectors in the summer 2021 report, most notably transport 
and storage (45%), retail (32%) and hospitality (26%) employers. At the same time, 
pay pressures are more muted in both the construction (17%) and manufacturing 
(20%) sectors. 
 

 

 

Page 40



 15 

Figure 4: Employers’ response to recruitment difficulties (%) 

 
Base: total: n=2,042; private: n=1,473; public: n=352; voluntary: n=217  

Source: Labour Market Outlook – Summer 2021 (CIPD) 

Labour supply 
The analysis also considers the number of applications employers received for the 
last low-skilled, medium-skilled and high-skilled vacancy they filled. Overall, the 
survey data indicates that the supply of labour is broadly consistent with previous 
years for low-skilled and medium-skilled vacancies. This is important because, as 
other commentators have pointed out, labour supply can act as a brake on 
employment growth and on the economic recovery.  

Where employers last filled a low-skilled vacancy, they received a median number of 
20 applicants for that role in summer 2021. This compares with 20 applicants in 
summer 2020, 16 applicants in summer 2019, and 20 applicants in summer 2018. 

  

Page 41



 16 

Figure 5: Median number of applications received for most recently filled low-skilled role 

 
Base: total: n=2,042; private: n=1,473; public: n=352; voluntary: n=217  

Source: Labour Market Outlook – Summer 2021 (CIPD) 

In terms of low-paying industries, it seems that labour supply is also consistent with 
the pre-pandemic trend, apart from transport and storage, which has seen a 
noticeable reduction since the onset of the pandemic (Figure 6). 
Figure 6: Median number of applications received for most recently filled low-skilled role (by industry) 

 
Source: Labour Market Outlook (CIPD) 

Meanwhile, employers report that the number of applications they received for 
medium-skilled roles is similar in recent years. On average, employers received a 
median number of ten applications for the last medium-skilled role that was 
advertised. This compares with ten applicants in summer 2020, ten in summer 2019 
and ten again in summer 2018. 

By contrast, the survey data showed that the supply of applicants for high-skilled 
roles is more constrained than in previous years.  

Page 42



 17 

 

6 A perspective of low-paying sectors 
This section delves into specific, low-paying sectors to provide a more in-depth 
assessment of labour shortages based on data from a number of focus groups. The 
six sectors chosen for this report are retail, transport and storage, food processing, 
hospitality, social care and construction. The research methodology for these groups 
can be found in Appendix 2. It should be noted that with this qualitative research, 
we cannot determine how representative the focus groups are, unlike with the survey 
data.  

These findings are additionally reinforced by information from a number of regional 
employer roundtables that were held across the UK. 

Retail 
Background 
According to the focus group, most of the workforce among retail employers are 
employed under permanent, full-time contracts, with a significant proportion of the 
remainder of the workforce comprising permanent, part-time staff. Employers report 
using agency staff only occasionally, for example, to fill specific roles such as 
delivery drivers.  

EU migrant workers make up a smaller proportion of the workforce among the retail 
focus groups compared with others. This is consistent with official data, which shows 
that EU-born workers comprise 8% of the UK workforce.  

Recruitment practice 
Focus group participants report using a wide range of recruitment channels – from 
online methods such as commercial job boards and social media to more traditional 
approaches, most notably local newspapers. Other popular channels include 
recruitment consultancies and word of mouth.  

However, unlike the focus group, the survey data shows that retail firms are more 
reliant on recruitment agencies to fill vacancies than other channels. Less than half 
(45%) of employers in the sector use recruitment agencies compared with an all-
survey average of 43%. Other popular routes in the sector include other professional 
networking sites such as LinkedIn (42%), corporate websites (42%), commercial job 
boards and social networking sites (22%). 

Respondents rely on interviews as their main recruitment selection tool in retail, 
which include a mix of telephone, video and face-to-face interviews. A small number 
say that they ask prospective employees to complete work trial shifts during the 
recruitment process. This allows them to assess applicants’ interest in the role, their 
capability, and how they interact with other team members and customers.  

Labour shortages 
According to the survey data, just over three in ten (31%) retail employers say they 
are experiencing recruitment difficulties, which compares with an all-survey average 
of 39%. Further, the proportion of retail employers reporting hard-to-fill vacancies in 
summer 2021 is slightly lower than the share of organisations that reported 
recruitment difficulties in 2019 (36%) and 2018 (33%). 

Page 43



 18 

The analysis also considers the number of applications employers received for the 
last low-skilled, medium-skilled and high-skilled vacancy they filled. Where 
employers last filled a low-skilled vacancy, they received a median number of 25 
applicants for that role in summer 2021. This compares with 20 applicants in summer 
2020, 15 applicants in summer 2019 and 20 applicants in summer 2018.  

Meanwhile, employers report that the number of applications they received for 
medium-skilled roles is broadly consistent with recent years. On average, employers 
received a median ten applications for the last medium-skilled role that was 
advertised. This compares with ten applicants in summer 2020, 12 applicants in 
summer 2019 and 12 applicants in summer 2018. 

The incidence of labour and skills shortages was partly mirrored in the focus group, 
although there was a large variation across the group, including some employers 
who continued to receive a very high volume of applications. 

Despite this, the current pool of candidates can feel limited according to the vast 
majority of retail employers, especially for skilled roles. Most employers say that 
recruiting staff for unskilled roles is more straightforward because they do not have 
specific requirements attached to them in terms of educational qualifications. 

Some employers also report that some candidates are unwilling to do shift work or 
‘unsociable’ hours, which are necessary to respond to peaks in demand. As a result, 
some employers have difficulty hiring suitable part-time workers, many of whom try 
to structure their hours around family commitments or other responsibilities: 

‘People want to live a 24/7 society but are unwilling to work outside of the 
Monday to Friday 9–5.’ 

‘The quality of candidates is very poor; we work weekends and that seems 
to be a major problem.’ 

‘Finding people who have the necessary skills and experience that fits with 
company – it was very difficult to find anyone for our last hire a few months 
ago.’ 

‘The main difficulty is recruiting for a part-time role with available overtime. 
Once employees that are also claiming benefits reach their hours, they are 
unwilling to work overtime.’ 

Additionally, this group commented on work ethic, with many observing that staff 
returning from furlough are less engaged and more demanding about flexible 
working and taking time off.  

Response to labour shortages 
The survey data – as in other industries – shows that upskilling (38%), raising wages 
(32%) and hiring more apprentices (24%) are popular responses among retail 
employers to labour shortages. In addition, it is encouraging that almost one in five 
(18%) organisations plan to recruit more school or college leavers compared with an 
all-survey average of 10%.  

For those that engage with local FE colleges, more than a third (38%) of retail 
employers do this through apprenticeships, according to the survey data. The other 

Page 44



 19 

main activity through which employers engage with their local FE colleges is to 
provide work experience opportunities (25%). 

The sum of this activity is only partly mirrored in the focus group. Two 
establishments are using the Kickstart Scheme as a way to recruit new talent, with 
the hope that staff will develop in the role and accept a permanent contract at the 
end of the process. Meanwhile, other employers are looking at succession planning 
to ensure that staff can progress within the business, offering learning and 
development opportunities and a wider range of flexible working arrangements to 
retain talent – most notably job-sharing and more part-time roles.  

Another retail employer said that they were introducing an apprenticeship scheme for 
drivers in response to the current shortage. However, around half of the group 
reported that apprenticeships were not appropriate for roles they have most difficulty 
filling. 

In contrast to the survey data and many other sectors, raising wages barely featured 
as a response. This may be because businesses feel they already pay high enough 
wages to attract talent by paying at a rate above the National Living Wage.  

Additionally, automation was not cited as a potential substitute by any of the focus 
group participants. 

Impact of the new immigration system  
Overall, there’s a lack of understanding about the changes to the immigration system 
among those in retail. They describe it as ‘confusing’ and ‘unclear’ and say that the 
lack of information makes it difficult to both plan and to assess whether they would 
be able to meet the criteria for recruiting EU workers.  

According to the vast majority of employers, the changes to the immigration system 
have had a limited impact on them to date, apart from one employer, who attributed 
the company’s current labour shortages to Brexit. Nonetheless, a greater number of 
employers are concerned about the negative impact the recent introduction of 
migration restrictions on EU citizens may have on them in the future: 

‘As a business we are struggling in the south to recruit drivers; this is 
having an impact on availability in stores as a large number of drivers are 
European.’  

‘Most logistics providers’ drivers were from Europe and I have to say were 
very reliable, but now most are British. We rely heavily on logistics 
providers for sending all over the UK and the rest of the world.’ 

Some of those in retail have put plans in place in response to restrictions on 
migration, although many of them are holding off until they start to see any further 
impact of the pandemic and Brexit on recruitment difficulties. Some employers also 
predicted that the restrictions will lead to competitors increasing wages for lower-
skilled roles, putting more pressure on them to increase wages.  

Page 45



 20 

Transport and storage  
Background 
Employers in the focus group employ mostly staff under full-time and permanent 
contracts, but around half also use agency staff to deal with peaks in demand, such 
as during Christmas and to cover staff absence.  

The majority of transport and storage and logistics employers in the focus group 
employ EU-born workers – accounting for up to half of their total workforce. Migrant 
workers from the EU are largely recruited to fill low-skilled or unskilled roles, such as 
drivers, porters, loaders, although some are employed in skilled roles: 

‘Approximately 50% of our operational roles, for example, are filled with 
migrant workers. They often progress through the business into 
management roles. We also see 30% in IT and finance roles, and often 
have a 50/50 split in graduate and apprentice recruitment.’  

One of the reasons behind the relatively high proportion of EU-born workers is that 
the businesses concerned tend to operate across the whole of Europe. The majority 
of EU migrant workers are men aged between 25 and 45.  

Recruitment practice 
According to the focus group, employers in the transport and storage sector are 
particularly reliant on recruitment consultants and social media to attract new 
recruits. This is broadly consistent with the survey data, which shows that more than 
half (51%) of employers in the sector use recruitment agencies to fill vacancies. 
Alongside are other popular methods, such as professional networking sites like 
LinkedIn (35%), social networking sites (32%) and corporate websites (32%). 

In transport and storage and logistics, interviews and driving assessments are the 
main recruitment tools, but individuals also mention tests (for example, logic, 
situational, sight) and medical certificates.  

Labour shortages 
The survey data showed that more than one in three (36%) organisations in the 
sector say they are experiencing recruitment difficulties, which compares with an all-
survey average of 39%. The share of establishments reporting hard-to-fill vacancies 
is currently higher than in 2020 (20%) and 2019 (28%), but lower than in 2018 
(50%). By comparison, the majority of employers in this focus group said they were 
currently experiencing labour and skills shortages.  

The survey analysis also considered the number of applications employers received 
for the last low-skilled, medium-skilled and high-skilled vacancy they filled. Overall, 
that data indicates that the supply of labour is more constrained than in previous 
years, especially for low-skilled vacancies. 

  

Page 46



 21 

Figure 7: Median number of applications received for most recently filled low-skilled role (transport and 
storage) 

 
Source: Labour Market Outlook (CIPD) 

In addition, employers said that the number of applications they received for 
medium-skilled roles was lower compared with recent years. On average, employers 
received a median ten applications for the last medium-skilled role that was 
advertised. This compares with 19 applicants in summer 2020, 29 in summer 2019 
and ten in summer 2018. 

The survey data is mirrored by the focus group, where employers in the transport 
sector tell of challenges with both the quality and the quantity of applicants. The 
focus group participants underlined the need for experienced and qualified people for 
their industry, especially for drivers who are also subject to regular training 
requirements.  

Reasons for recruitment difficulties 
Some respondents felt that the lack of potential candidates was due in part to the 
perceived ‘unattractiveness’ of the sector among jobseekers, with anti-social hours 
and low job status as key factors. Those potentially interested in the roles might also 
be discouraged by the associated training costs, such as regularly undertaking CPC 
(Driver Certificate of Professional Competence) training. Employers say that it is 
hard to challenge stereotypes and convince people that working as a driver is a 
useful and well-paid job. 

Additionally, some employers attributed the labour and skill shortages to a recent fall 
in the stock of EU applicants, which has been driven by an outflow of EU workers to 
their home countries rather than migration restrictions: 

‘People don’t see being a bus driver as a suitable career, which is very sad 
as they play such a significant role in the local community, getting people 
to work, school and out socially. The salary is fairly good, but sometimes 
they get quite a lot of abuse from customers in the job and traffic 
congestion can be frustrating to some after a while.’  

‘We have had quite a few go back to European countries in recent months, 
but also the salaries are beyond competitive for a small business.’ 

‘For us it’s not a problem getting drivers, but it is a problem getting decent, 
reliable drivers.’ 

Page 47



 22 

‘A lot of people come into the industry with rose-tinted glasses.’ 

‘I’m not sure they see it as a good enough job for them. The salary is 
decent. Not sure people like the shift patterns.’ 

In terms of specific hard-to-fill roles, most employers in transport and storage and 
logistics say that they currently struggle to recruit drivers. They see fewer people 
applying for these positions and find some of the candidates unreliable. Their 
recruitment difficulties are compounded by a relatively high number of drivers 
retiring, which is consistent with official data that shows that the transport and 
storage sector has an ageing workforce.  

‘The problem with driver shortage is that there is no one coming through 
and the older ones are retiring – to become an HGV driver costs about 
£3,000 and then there is no immediate return as no one wants someone 
with zero experience.’  

There are fewer challenges recruiting for other roles, although individuals report 
issues recruiting skilled positions, including mechanics, electricians, engineers and 
project managers.  

Response to recruitment difficulties 
Raising wages, improving benefits and increasing training activity seem to be the 
main responses to labour and skills shortages, according to both the focus groups 
and the survey data. In addition, some employers are looking at ways of improving 
job quality, including better flexible working arrangements. The sum of this activity is 
captured in the following comments: 

‘We are looking into providing an improved benefits package. We’ve 
already raised driver salaries in the last 12 months.’ 

‘We are offering to train the right candidates to get their licences in-house.’ 

‘We have a training programme called warehouse to wheels, where the 
company will train a warehouse op to be an HGV driver with a contract 
that states they pay back the cost of the training if they leave within “X” 
years.’ 

‘We are trialling part-time driving jobs, pay increase, enhanced rate of pay 
for anti-social shifts.’ 

‘We are also recruiting direct from Army Logistics Corps.’ 

In addition, one organisation reported using the Kickstart Scheme and a new 
apprenticeship scheme to attract candidates. Automation was not seen as a potential 
solution by any of the focus group participants. 

This activity is largely consistent with survey data, which shows that the three most 
popular responses to recruitment difficulties are raising wages (45%), improving job 
quality (41%), upskilling (31%), hiring more apprentices (31%) and automation 
(27%). Fewer than one in ten (9%) employers in the sector use word of mouth.  

One in ten (10%) organisations plan to recruit more school- or college-leavers, the 
same proportion as the all-survey average. Indeed, there was no evidence of any 
engagement with local schools or FE colleges among the focus group participants.  

Page 48



 23 

Impact of the new immigration system  
Overall, there is a lack of understanding about the changes to the immigration 
system among transport and storage and logistics employers. However, they are 
under no illusions that Brexit will make recruiting EU nationals more difficult in future 
and expect it to become more expensive and require extra paperwork: 

‘[The] new immigration system is likely to make the recruiting process a bit 
more expensive to us, because if we want to employ EU nationals, there 
will be extra paperwork.’  

Some of those in the sector think that the outflow of EU workers and the recent 
introduction of migration restrictions will reduce the pool of suitable candidates in the 
future. Just one employer in transport and storage and logistics is actively looking to 
recruit overseas workers that are based in their home countries (both in and outside 
Europe) to offset this.  

Despite this, few establishments are planning to change their recruitment strategy at 
this stage, but they are aware that they may have to do so in the future. When 
probed for more detail, employers said that they may need to consider recruiting 
people from a wider pool, increase pay, improve employment conditions and 
introduce new products or services to become more attractive employers.  

Potential solutions put forward by the group included more generous government 
support for training, improving the image of the industry and addressing rules on 
drivers, such as working hours. Two respondents also argued that changes to the 
immigration system would be required to address labour or skills shortages in their 
organisation.  

Social care 
Background 
Social care employers employ the highest proportion of full-time employees of all the 
sector-specific groups in order to meet the requirement for regular working patterns 
and qualified staff. The remainder of the workforce comprises part-time and 
temporary or agency workers. Employers largely use casual workers to cover holiday 
absence, sickness and vacant posts. In addition, some employers in the sector use 
agencies to recruit nurses: 

‘85% full-time. Part-time staffing with the remainder covered by agency. 
Most employed staff are NVQ level 2 and 3 qualified where they are 
carers.’ 

Recruitment practice 
Employers use a range of recruitment channels to source staff in the social care 
sector. The most popular include word of mouth, social media (such as Facebook or 
LinkedIn), online recruitment websites such as Indeed, Jobcentre Plus and local 
newspapers.  

Labour shortages 
According to the focus group, recruitment difficulties in the sector are persistent. This 
was due to a lack of local applicants, poor-quality applications, finding people with 
the right qualifications and the requirement to conduct DBS (Disclosure and Barring 

Page 49



 24 

Service) checks. Employers said that some dimensions of job quality, especially in 
terms of work intensity, stress and inflexible working patterns, were also key 
influencing factors.  

When probed further, many employers mentioned low pay as the reason behind the 
lack of applicants. The situation was exacerbated by some potential applicants 
opting for ‘less stressful and higher paid’ local retail jobs. Several employers claimed 
that raising pay would only be part of the solution. Other reasons behind the lack of 
applicants include location, anti-social hours, and finding applicants with the right 
caring attributes.  

When asked to identify specific hard-to-fill vacancies, many employers cited support 
workers and nurses – who often prefer working for the NHS given the associated 
benefits – as the most difficult vacancies to fill: 

‘Nurses have been an issue for a while. We have several clinical 
vacancies at the moment. Both for the same reason – due to the 
shortages nationally, these individuals can do locum or agency work on 
much higher rates and choose their hours to suit them.’  

‘Our salary for a full-time nurse is around 40% higher than that of a Band 5 
NHS nurse, but people are attracted to the benefits of working for the NHS 
– so we can still struggle at times.’  

‘It links to values and ethics. An individual can earn more working a 
monotonous job on a supermarket till than they can being a support 
worker for us, so they need to want to work in the sector.’  

These reasons are mirrored by those of jobseekers when considering a career in 
social care. Many are put off by their view that specific skills and qualifications are an 
essential requirement for the industry. Other reasons behind their reluctance to apply 
for roles in the sector include low pay, long hours and the physical demands of the 
role. Some also question working in a sector that is so heavily reliant on government 
funding, which has been cut in recent years: 

‘Social care can be very demanding and the hours are often very 
changeable.’ 

‘Entry level [positions] are severely underpaid and overworked.’ 

‘The emotional toll that caregiving can have is immense.’ 

‘Long hours definitely, as well as how it affects you emotionally. It’s very 
hard to progress in care.’ 

Employers in the social care sector claim that they are unable to raise wages to help 
attract more applicants because their pay structure offers very limited scope for 
altering rates of pay. As a result, most employers in the group said that they would 
continue to pay at a rate equivalent to the NLW rate of £8.91 an hour. That being the 
case, many predicted that labour shortages, many of which are longstanding, would 
worsen as the UK’s labour market continues to tighten.  

In response, some employers have looked at enhancing their benefits packages to 
offset low pay. Other key tactics used by employers include increasing annual leave 
allowance and introducing other perks (such as free meals, free parking/transport, 

Page 50



 25 

staff discounts). In addition, some employers plan to increase skills investment and 
put in place progression plans for staff.  

On a positive note, a few social care employers reported developing closer links to 
their local colleges and universities, which included work placement schemes and 
apprenticeships in many cases. Social care employers have also sought to forge 
closer links with universities to overcome their nursing recruitment difficulties. 
Several employers also said they were looking more carefully at balancing staff rotas 
to help improve retention.  

Some employers have also looked at improving recruitment practices to attract more 
applicants. Key examples of this include advertising more broadly, recruiting from 
schools and colleges, reviewing their pay and benefits (especially flexible working 
arrangements) offering, and reducing their use of gig or agency workers.  

Overall, there is a wide understanding among social care employers that investing in 
skills training and development will be the main vehicle for easing recruitment 
difficulties in the future. Key tactics include enhancing succession planning to aid 
retention and upskilling more staff to plug any skills gaps from the existing workforce: 

‘We try to spot those who show enthusiasm and the characteristics 
required for senior roles and put on additional leadership training for those 
who show interest and are capable.’  

‘We pay above NMW and we reviewed our benefits package a couple of 
years ago to provide higher leave allowances than other care sector 
employers.’  

‘We have taken on an apprentice for a clerical role, which worked out very 
well… We do offer student nurse placements. Some have joined our staff 
bank as a result.’  

Awareness of various government employment schemes, such as Kickstart and 
traineeships, is fairly low. When probed, some employers were positive about their 
potential use. However, others questioned the administrative burden and the quality 
of the candidates. 

Impact of the new immigration system 
Many employers say they have a poor understanding of the immigration system. 
This is partly because many of them claim that the recent migration restrictions won’t 
affect them, as they tend to recruit migrant workers from outside of the EU. As the 
official data shows, this is representative of the sector as a whole. However, 
employers that do employ EU migrants expressed concern about the future impact of 
the restrictions on labour supply at their organisations: 

‘So the number of EU people moving to the UK each year will virtually 
disappear – while the number of UK nationals migrating out of the UK will 
stay the same or increase – we are going to see a huge drop-off in the 
size of the applicant pool over the next few years.’  

Page 51



 26 

Food processing 
Background 
There is considerable variation across food production employers in terms of the 
composition of the workforce. Whereas the majority of the workforce are full-time, 
permanent employees in some organisations, agency workers comprise up to half of 
the workforce in others. Employers use agency workers to meet fluctuations in 
demand and production as well as seasonal periods, and in some cases deal with 
high absence rates.  

Recruitment practice 
Consistent with the make-up of the workforce, employers in food processing are 
more reliant on agency workers. Employers in the sector use recruitment agencies to 
find both unskilled and skilled workers, including for specialist and senior roles.  

Labour shortages 
Food processing is another sector to report widespread labour shortages. However, 
unlike other groups, high labour turnover is reported to be one of the key causes. 
Employers attribute this to deficiencies in their workforce. These include a lack of 
work ethic, poor teamworking skills, a poor understanding of the job role and work 
environment, a lack of skills and over-qualification. Assessing the suitability of 
candidates was highlighted as a key challenge by some employers. This suggests 
that bigger underlying causes behind high levels of labour turnover are management 
and recruitment practices that are not fit for purpose. 

In food production, employers say that they have difficulties recruiting people with 
the right set of skills, most notably proficiency in using machinery and technology. 
This often results in skills gaps in the organisation, which the majority of employers 
seek to address with appropriate levels of training.  

The most difficult hard-to-fill vacancies are reported to be drivers and machine 
operatives. Finding part-time workers who can structure their hours around the 
needs of the production schedules in the business was also a significant challenge 
for some organisations. Additionally, labour shortages have worsened as a result of 
the recent introduction of migration restrictions on EU nationals according to a 
couple of employers: 

‘[It’s] almost impossible to find someone with process skills, and agencies 
tend to struggle to understand what you’re asking for and just send 
anyone with a scientific bent. From the factory we struggle to cut the wheat 
from the chaff, and that’s what we expect from an agency, but they 
generally just send us anyone on their books as they’re looking for their 
cut.’  

‘The local industry requires a large volume for a short period, the weather 
and physical nature of the job does not make it appealing. Brexit has 
closed our usual source of labour required for the short-term nature of the 
work.’  

‘We tend to get a high number of applicants, but [then] they realise the 
work can be tough, with long hours and sometimes targets having to be 
hit.’  

Page 52



 27 

In response, employers in the food production sector are tapping into a range of 
channels to reach new staff. These include close links with schools and colleges – 
offering work placements and apprenticeships – job centres and external recruiters. 
Employers also mentioned initiatives to help potential employees better understand 
the roles, such as open days. Work trials are also offered at interview stage to 
ensure employees understand the job and the requirements of the role. However, 
there was some scepticism about the effectiveness of these additional efforts. 

The negative perception of the industry was validated in the jobseeker focus groups. 
Respondents described the food processing sector as poorly-paid, involving hard 
work, long working hours and often monotonous tasks. Some also saw the 
widespread use of zero-hours contracts as a deterrent. Many jobseekers believed 
that some people might be interested in working in this sector if jobs were local and 
offered higher wages and higher levels of job security. However, it was not a sector 
that they would consider for themselves: 

‘After being in the food industry with long shifts, late hours and very little 
flexibility, I am eager to be able to have some more freedom within my life.’  

‘The work is repetitive, boring and not very social.’ 

Impact of the new immigration system 
There’s strong concern about the impact of migration restrictions on food processing 
companies. The majority of employers said that the impact has yet to be felt, but they 
were under no illusion that the new system would lead to a reduction in labour supply 
at their organisations at some point in the future: 

‘Currently we are managing to recruit with no issues, but going forward we 
need to look at longer-term planning to ensure that we don’t have a 
shortfall in staff. This will be potentially addressed by offering 
apprenticeships via local colleges.’  

Hospitality 
Background 
Part-time work is more prevalent in hospitality compared with the other sector-
specific groups. Some organisations say that four-fifths of the organisation are 
employed under full-time contracts, whereas others say it is the other way around. 
The use of agency workers is limited, and is predominantly used, as in other groups, 
to deal with fluctuations in demand.  

Recruitment practices 
Employers use a narrow range of recruitment channels to source staff in the 
hospitality sector compared with other sectors. By far the most popular is online 
platforms, most notably the jobs website Indeed. Other popular channels include 
social media and networking alongside more limited use of Jobcentre Plus, and 
employee referrals or word of mouth.  

Meanwhile, the survey data shows that more than half (54%) of employers in the 
sector use their own corporate website to fill vacancies. Other popular methods 
include other commercial job boards (46%), social networking sites such as 
Facebook (37%) and professional networking sites such as LinkedIn (28%).  

Page 53



 28 

Consistent with official data, a relatively high proportion of EU nationals make up the 
workforce among hospitality employers, although there is a large variety across the 
nations and regions of the UK. Migrant workers make up the vast majority of the 
workforce in London and the south-east of England and are under-represented in 
nations such as Northern Ireland. 

Labour shortages  
Many employers in the focus group complained about current labour shortages in the 
sector, especially those that are based in cities. Many are worried about the future, 
due in part to the perceived exodus of workers out of cities and the recent 
introduction of migration restrictions on EU citizens.  

Employers in the hospitality sector cited a wide range of reasons behind their 
recruitment difficulties. These include the effects of restructuring during the 
pandemic, staffing age restrictions, the requirement to conduct DBS checks and the 
perceived poor quality of UK applicants. This is sometimes linked to a poor work 
ethic among some UK workers, especially compared with migrant workers. 

However, many focus group participants said the main reason behind recruitment 
difficulties is that the industry simply does not attract enough UK applicants. A poor 
view of the industry, most notably the perception that it offers low pay while requiring 
high effort, was deemed to be the main cause behind the inadequate number of 
applicants. This situation has been compounded by the pandemic, due to a 
perceived lack of job security compared with other sectors: 

‘All my applicants (last 3–4 years) have been UK, but fewer people apply 
as the industry is perceived as hard work for low pay.’ 

‘They don’t want to work in our industry, either the hours are wrong or the 
perception of the roles is beneath them – there are easier jobs [so] why 
would they?’ 

‘Lack of willingness to work hard for an average salary.’ 

‘It’s hard work and not many people have enough commitment in them to 
do the job.’ 

The negative perception of the industry was partly validated by both unemployed 
jobseeker groups. According to them, the key reasons hospitality is an unattractive 
sector include dealing with difficult customers, unsociable and long hours, high effort, 
and low pay. They also feel that there are limited opportunities for training in the 
industry, as the following comments illustrate: 

‘Hospitality is known for unsociable hours and pay can be a bit dependent 
on tips.’ 

‘Long hours, overworked and underpaid.’ 

‘The sector has a reputation for high-stress environments, late hours, and 
difficult customers.’ 

‘It’s a pretty exhausting industry. Yes, you might not start until 5pm, but 
you [don’t] get home until 2am after a late shift and you sleep for most of 
the day!’ 

Page 54



 29 

As a result, the majority of jobseekers say they would seek to avoid the industry, 
even for temporary assignments.  

However, some jobseekers had a more positive view, acknowledging that it is an 
accessible sector to get into and good for meeting people and networking. Some 
jobseekers also said that the flexible working arrangements often offered by 
hospitality employers are useful for fitting around other personal commitments. 
Additionally, some of those who expressed some scepticism about the industry said 
they might be encouraged to join the industry if training were provided and 
possibilities of promotion were offered. 

The survey data confirms media stories of labour shortages in the hospitality sector. 
Overall, more than half (51%) of all hospitality, arts and recreation establishments 
with vacancies said they were experiencing recruitment difficulties – the highest of 
any sector. As Figure 8 indicates, the incidence of hard-to-fill vacancies is much 
higher than in previous years.  
Figure 8: Proportion of organisations with hard-to-fill vacancies (%)  

 
Source: Labour Market Outlook (CIPD) 

However, the analysis also considered the number of applications employers 
received for the last low-skilled, medium-skilled and high-skilled vacancy they filled. 
Overall, the survey data indicated that the supply of labour is broadly consistent with 
recent years in terms of low-skilled vacancies.  

  

Page 55



 30 

Figure 9: Median number of applications received for most recently filled low-skilled role 

 
Source: Labour Market Outlook (CIPD) 

In addition, employers reported that the number of applications they received for 
medium skilled roles was lower compared with recent years. On average, employers 
received a median number of six applications for the last medium-skilled role that 
was advertised. This compares with 19 applicants in summer 2020, ten applicants in 
summer 2019 and ten in summer 2018. 

Response to recruitment difficulties 
Consistent with the all-survey average, employers in hospitality, arts and recreation 
plan to upskill existing staff (40%), hire more apprentices (32%) and raise wages 
(26%) in response to labour shortages. In addition, it is encouraging that almost one 
in five (18%) organisations plan to recruit more school- or college-leavers compared 
with an all-survey average of 10%.  

In considering the survey responses, there was agreement among focus group 
employers that raising wages would be the most effective way of attracting more 
applicants. However, the majority claimed that higher wage rates were not feasible at 
their organisation due to competitive pressures: 

‘Around £11/hour would most likely help increase applicants, but I don’t 
think this would be a viable option for us financially.’ 

‘It is not financially viable for our small business to be above NLW.’ 

The majority of the employers report paying at a rate equivalent to the NLW of 
£8.91/hour (adult rate). 

In terms of upskilling activity, introducing or expanding the existing apprenticeship 
provision seems to be hospitality employers’ main response. However, one or two 
employers complained about low levels of take-up in their organisation. Some 
employers expressed an interest in introducing apprenticeship schemes into their 
organisation, but were unclear how they might work. 

Other key tactics used to help attract more applicants include spending more on 
recruitment advertising, introducing job referral schemes and improving the 
employment offer, especially in terms of fringe benefits and flexible working 
arrangements. Recruiting more young people directly from colleges and universities 

Page 56



 31 

was another tactic, which includes the explicit prospect of progression in some 
cases:  

‘We have four tiers of training programmes from graduate to floor level 
staff, all with recognised qualifications at the end of it.’ 

‘We like to promote within the business and train them to work in a very 
specific job role. It’s better for us in the long run to employ someone at 
entry level.’ 

On the downside, some respondents felt thwarted in their efforts to engage with local 
colleges through work placements, most notably the restrictions imposed on them by 
colleges: 

‘Work placements are a nightmare, the colleges and schools put so many 
restrictions on what they can do it is impossible.’ 

‘We have previously tried placements; there are simply too many 
restrictions.’ 

‘We have done work placements with jobseekers, but it has very rarely 
worked out that the young person wants to stay. It is mainly them doing it 
just to get credit for the course they are on.’ 

Additionally, many employers in the industry expect labour shortages to worsen as a 
result of the recent introduction of migration restrictions on EU nationals.  

Despite these pressures, the majority of employers were very sceptical about using 
some under-utilised groups, such as unemployed people, to offset any reduction in 
labour supply: 

‘For me, I have tried young unemployed people and not one of them has 
lasted. The older generation, yes, but we are fast-paced too, so it would 
be job-specific.’ 

‘They don’t tend to go well in hospitality these groups (ex-offenders, parent 
returners, unemployed people and so on).’ 

As in other groups, automation was also firmly and comprehensively rejected as a 
substitute for labour, mainly due to the perceived requirement to provide a 
personalised service. This is consistent with the survey data, which shows that just 
6% of hospitality establishments plan to use automation in response to labour 
shortages compared with an all-survey average of 9%: 

‘We are a people-based business and service is everything.’ 

‘A robot can’t pour a pint, and even if they could, you would lose that 
personal touch that hospitality is known for.’ 

Construction 
Background 
According to the four in-depth interviews, which were conducted due to poor 
attendance for the focus groups, employers employ mostly staff under full-time and 
permanent contracts. Two of the four employers were large firms who were large 

Page 57



 32 

users of agency staff to deal with peaks in demand, created by specific construction 
projects.  

The same two large employers also reported employing a high proportion of migrant 
workers, due in part to the global nature of the businesses. In both these 
organisations, migrant workers were recruited to fill skilled and unskilled vacancies, 
including for designers, managers, joiners and unskilled construction workers. The 
two small firms, who did not employ migrant workers, said they would be very open 
to recruiting migrant workers in the future to address labour shortages. 

Recruitment practices 
According to the in-depth interviews, employers in the construction sector use a 
large variety of recruitment channels to fill vacancies. These include the 
organisation’s own website, social media, recruitment consultants and making direct 
contact with the potential recruit and word of mouth. 

This is broadly consistent with the survey data, which showed that more than half 
(60%) of employers use professional networking sites such as LinkedIn to fill roles. 
Other popular methods include recruitment consultants (46%), the organisation’s 
own website (39%) and making a direct approach to potential applicants (34%), 
which was more than double the all-survey average (15%). Indeed, informal 
channels were more prevalent in this sector, with 16% of construction employers 
encouraging speculative applications or word of mouth, which is almost double the 
all-survey average (9%). 

Labour shortages 
Two of the four employers interviewed said they were currently experiencing labour 
and skills shortages. This is broadly consistent with recent CIPD survey data, where 
just over a third (37%) of all construction companies with vacancies said they were 
experiencing recruitment difficulties. This is slightly below the all-survey average 
(39%). The share of construction establishments was lower than in two of the 
previous years, including 2018 (47%) and 2019 (40%), but higher than in 2020 
(23%). 

The survey analysis also considered the number of applications employers received 
for the last low-skilled and medium-skilled vacancy they filled. Overall, the survey 
data indicates that the supply of labour compares favourably with recent years for 
low-skilled vacancies.  

Where employers last filled a low-skilled vacancy, they received a median number of 
20 applicants for that role in summer 2021. This compares with 20 applicants in 
summer 2020, 16 applicants in summer 2019 and nine in summer 2018.  

However, there has been a noticeable reduction in labour supply for medium-skilled 
roles. On average, employers received a median number of five applications for the 
last medium-skilled role that was advertised. This compares with 20 applicants in 
summer 2020, ten applicants in summer 2019 and five in summer 2018. 

This is consistent with the interviews with employers, many of whom say the 
recruitment difficulties were much greater for medium- and high-skilled roles, as the 
following comment illustrates: 

Page 58



 33 

‘The market is really hot at the minute, especially for some of the scarce 
skills, and I guess for some of the less scarce skills, so commercial’s a 
really good example of that where we're losing people because of pay, 
and I think the lack of people available to the market is driving up pay, so 
people are having to pay more to get the more talented people.’  

Consistent with some of the other groups, unattractiveness is perceived to be the 
most significant factor behind the recruitment difficulties, as summarised by the HR 
director of one construction firm:  

‘I think a lot of people don’t see it as a desired role when they finish 
college or university. If I’m honest, there’s a lot of stigma that goes with the 
role… As a result, lots of parents discourage their children from going into 
that industry, and [so] there is a massive skill shortage in construction. If 
the Government could do something to encourage more training, more 
apprenticeships, I think that would work quite well.’ 

According to one of the large two firms, which currently had 500 vacancies, many of 
which were hard-to-fill, this was at least partly due to the recent introduction of 
migration restrictions for EU nationals. However, this has been somewhat offset by 
the easing of restrictions outside the EU, according to one firm:  

‘[We’re] heavily dependent on EU-based employees, but equally in our 
organisation we have some scarce skills in there. We bring a lot of people 
in from the Philippines, where there are big training schools for some of 
the scarce skills like jointing… we’re heavily dependent on migrant 
workers for those types of role.’  

At the same time, another firm that recruits migrant labour from the EU said that the 
new immigration system involved more ‘red tape’, which led to delays in the 
placement of staff and had impacted project timescales: 

‘We have to [recruit from the EU]; we just can’t source enough volume 
from the UK market from what we’ve seen since January, so we are still 
bringing in a lot of EU workers and we’ll continue to. We just have to jump 
through those hoops to evidence why.’ 

Response to labour shortages  
According to the survey data, a higher share of construction firms that were 
experiencing recruitment difficulties were taking steps to tackle them compared with 
the all-survey average. Consistent with other industries, upskilling remained at the 
forefront of organisations’ approaches to tackling recruitment difficulties. Almost half 
(49%) of employers said they plan to upskill existing staff to help offset hard-to-fill 
vacancies, which was slightly higher than the all-survey average (44%). Around a 
third (33%) of construction firms planned to hire more apprentices compared with 
just over a quarter (26%) of all establishments.  

However, less than a fifth (17%) of construction firms planned to raise wages, which 
compares with around a quarter (23%) of all employers. All four employers 
interviewed for this report said they pay above a rate equivalent to the NLW of 
£8.91/hour. 

Page 59



 34 

Other popular employer responses include hiring more graduates (27%), more 
parent returners (19%) and recruiting more older workers (15%). 

The relatively high incidence of upskilling, redeployment and apprenticeship was 
echoed by the employers interviewed for this report. Indeed, employers showed high 
levels of enthusiasm for apprenticeships, citing the low cost and relatively high 
retention rates. There was agreement that more should be done by employers and 
Government to increase apprenticeship activity, including one employer who 
recommended a bursary to encourage more younger applicants. In contrast to other 
sectors, employers were positive about the Apprenticeship Levy: 

‘It’s attractive to people in the group who want to make a change, to stay in 
the group but have a new role with us. Effectively they get a free chance to 
try a new job… they keep their long-service benefits. For the group it’s 
great because the best interview is someone having worked with the chap 
for five to seven years… you know the value of that talent.’  

‘We’re trying to maximise the tools available to us, so things like LinkedIn 
and social media capabilities, reaching out to universities. We do a lot of 
what we call emerging talent recruitment, so we’re bringing in grads and 
apprentices, so really trying to look at the pipeline and develop our own 
talent in-house.’ 

Jobseeker group 
Background 
Given that young people have been most affected by the pandemic, the research 
also aims to investigate the potential for unemployed young people to fill vacancies 
in low-paying sectors that are especially reliant on EU nationals. In particular, the 
research seeks to understand young jobseekers’ attitudes towards low-paying 
sectors and explore whether these expectations have changed as a result of the 
pandemic. 

Employment preferences 
The two groups of unemployed young jobseekers were driven by their personal 
preferences and have been applying for roles since leaving education. For some, 
this had been a few months, while for others it had been a year, two years or even 
more.  

Many respondents had submitted multiple applications, but with high competition and 
numerous rejections, they found the process hard and disheartening. This cut across 
the whole jobseeker sample, which included those straight out of school, through to 
sixth form and graduates. They were also disappointed by the lack of feedback from 
employers as it made it difficult to learn from their experiences. All participants, 
regardless of their educational background, were struggling: 

‘I think the lack of feedback is a big problem. You cannot improve your 
applications if you do not know what you need to change.’  

‘University didn’t do a good job of providing practical skills/equipping 
students with work experiences or what to expect post-graduation.’  

Page 60



 35 

Barriers to employment  
The main barrier faced by jobseekers was lack of relevant work experience. They 
found it difficult to prove to potential employers that without experience, they can still 
be valuable employees. Other barriers included mental and physical health issues, 
poor presentation skills at interview and a lack of suitable connections. 

Some said that there were limited employment opportunities in their local area – they 
felt that there were more opportunities in London, but at the same time, they 
imagined that the competition there was even higher. Some were willing to commute 
for 30–60 minutes to work, but a few mentioned that commuting was hard for them if 
they did not own a car and if they needed to rely on public transport. Very few would 
consider relocating for a job, mainly due to transport and housing costs. 

Many young jobseekers wanted to pursue careers in roles and sectors relevant to 
their qualifications. Some of them have had some work experience in sectors such 
as retail, hospitality, social care and admin, but they often used them as a ‘stop-gap’ 
to earn some money before finding something that really interests them. They were 
looking for a ‘suitable job’, something they would be interested in doing long term, 
that would offer career progression and a decent salary. Some were prepared to 
work for low pay to achieve this. Other factors were also important, most notably the 
company’s values, job security, the working environment, work–life balance, the 
benefits package and location.  

Factors that discouraged them from applying for certain jobs and sectors include: 

• zero-hours contracts 

• a company’s poor reputation 

• long and anti-social working hours 

• a hostile working environment 

• low levels of diversity 

• low pay and limited opportunity to progress. 

When choosing between different jobs of the same level of pay, location and the 
possibility of promotion were particularly important: 

‘I think a suitable job needs to be an actual career, something that you can 
do long term, with good progression prospects, and a decent salary.’ 

‘Their benefits package makes the difference for me and whether their 
core values align more or less with mine.’  

‘[I] would rather have a job I want to do than one I hate which pays more.’  

‘Most desirable is full-time hours; least desirable is zero-hours contracts, 
split shifts, uncertainty and short contracts.’ 

Recruitment difficulties 
Jobseekers singled out specific industries as unattractive, such as the food industry, 
retail, social care, hospitality, arts and recreation (especially kitchen work) and 
construction. They also had limited interest in administration, factory or customer 

Page 61



 36 

service work. They wanted to avoid these jobs and industries as they perceived them 
to be demanding in terms of working hours and the working environment, poorly-paid 
and unfulfilling. A few described these industries as less ‘respected’ and not suitable 
for their future career plans.  

Respondents’ views about certain jobs and industries were shaped by their own 
experiences (usually within hospitality, arts and recreation and food production) and 
from what they’ve heard from others, especially family and friends but also teachers. 
Their perceptions were also shaped by the media and social media:   

‘You hear horror stories about cruel and nasty customers that put me off 
retail; however I’ve still applied for retail jobs as most things are better than 
nothing.’ 

‘[I] want a job that would be respected and viewed well on my CV when I’m 
applying for jobs later on, so I want it to be a sector that is respected.’  

‘Hospitality, arts and recreation is tough, and you have to be willing to work 
long hours; and it can be pretty rough, especially depending on the type of 
venue.’ 

Government initiatives 
There was some awareness of state support across the two groups, especially 
among those that had been out of work for some time, and those with additional 
needs. Respondents spontaneously mentioned work coaches, Kickstart and 
Jobcentre Plus, as well as courses they’ve applied to themselves or via work. 
However, some hadn’t heard of these schemes before, either because they had 
taken a different route, for example, further study, or due to a lack of communication. 

There was fair take-up of state support among this sample, with work coaches being 
the main type of support though some have received financial support. Levels of 
support experienced in these schemes was mixed. While some had received 
practical tips, such as CV design, interview techniques and marketing, others had 
received little or no new advice.  

While participants welcomed the experience and pay provided by the 
apprenticeships and Kickstart schemes, the most cynical thought they mainly benefit 
employers by providing cheap labour. Some were aware of the apprenticeship pay 
rates and were deterred from applying because the pay rate was too low. Many 
respondents said they would be attracted to apprenticeships if the NMW/Apprentice 
Rate were raised.   

Page 62



 37 

Appendix 1: Survey method 
The Labour Market Outlook survey was conducted by YouGov Plc. The total sample 
size for the summer 2021 report was 2,042 senior HR professionals and decision-
makers in the UK. Fieldwork was undertaken between 16 June and 12 July 2021. 
The survey was carried out online. The figures have been weighted and are 
representative of UK employment by organisation size and sector.   

Weighting   
Rim weighting is applied using targets on size and sector drawn from the BEIS 
Business Population Estimates for the UK and Regions 2019. The following tables 
contain unweighted counts.  
Table 1: Breakdown of sample, by number of employees in the organisation  

Employer size band  Count  
2–9  469  
10–49  418  
50–99  174  
100–249  189  
250–499  158  
500–999  112  
1,000 or more  522  
Total   2,042  
  
Table 2: Breakdown of sample, by sector  

Sector  Count  
Private sector  1,473  
Public sector  352  
Third/voluntary sector  217  
Total  2,042  
  
Table 3: Breakdown of sample, by industry  

Industry  Count  
Voluntary  217  
Manufacturing and production  310  
Manufacturing  151  
Construction  114  
Primary and utilities  45  
Education  189  
Healthcare  139  
Private sector services  1,028  
Wholesale, retail and real estate  180  
Transport and storage  53  
Information and communication  104  
Finance and insurance  153  

Page 63



 38 

Business services (e.g. consultancy, law, PR, marketing, scientific and technical 
services)  246  

Hotels, catering and restaurants/Arts, entertainment and recreation  108  
Administrative and support service activities and other service activities  184  
Public administration and defence  139  
Police and armed forces  18  
Total  2,042  
  
Table 4: Breakdown of sample, by region  

Region  Count  
North-east of England  57  
East Midlands  119  
West Midlands  108  
Scotland  142  
London  345  
South-west of England  166  
Eastern England  126  
Wales  91  
South-east of England  279  
North-west of England  179  
Yorkshire and Humberside  123  
Northern Ireland  19  
 

Appendix 2: Industry-specific focus groups 
CIPD commissioned YouGov to gain qualitative insight into recruitment difficulties 
faced by employers within low-wage industries and work preferences of young adults 
currently looking for employment. YouGov conducted a total 5 x 1-hour, video-
enabled focus groups with employers in retail, and transport and logistics on 7 and 8 
July 2021 which followed focus groups with employers in social care, hospitality and 
food production on 21 and 22 April. Employers in these industries were randomly 
selected using the Business Population Register/FAME company accounts dataset. 
Our main aims in selecting employers were to achieve a mix of company sizes from 
across the UK, a mix of national and local/regional companies and a mix of business 
strategies in terms of marketing position in order to produce representative samples. 

Additionally, 2 x 90-minutes text-based online focus groups took place comprising 
young, unemployed job seekers on 19 May. 

Page 64



Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
151 The Broadway  London  SW19 1JQ  United Kingdom 
T +44 (0)20 8612 6200  F +44 (0)20 8612 6201
E cipd@cipd.co.uk  W cipd.co.uk
Incorporated by Royal Charter  
Registered as a charity in England and Wales (1079797)  
and Scotland (SC045154) 

Issued: October 2021  Reference: 8181     © CIPD 2021

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Strategic Workforce Planning Support 2021 

Proposed Support Schedule 

Council Kirklees Council 
 

Scoping 
Meeting 

24 May 2021 
 

Support 
requested 

We have included a specific outcome below although we could 
have ticked every box. 
 
Workforce planning is a key corporate priority. As a council we 
are planning on utilising the new LGA workforce planning tool 
and are developing plans to begin this work through our People 
Strategy programme of work. We would welcome any support 
that could be provided on any aspect of implementing a 
workforce planning approach in Kirklees which would maximise 
impact and engagement.  
 
Anticipated outcome: 
An approach to workforce planning and talent management to 
support the retention of the Covid Community Support Officer 
workforce (anticipated over 100) beyond the end of their fixed 
term contracts to maintain employment and support the council 
to address some areas of skill and labour scarcity. 
 
Background 
Kirklees has since mid-January, ambitiously and successfully 
recruited to over 60 Covid Community Support Officers (6-12 
month fixed term contracts) with an expectation for this number 
to at least double over the coming months. This is an example 
of agile collaborative working approach across teams and 
services within the Council.  
 
Covid Community Support officers are critical to our recovery, 
undertaking a range of activities as part of our covid response, a 
further benefit of the roles is being the eyes and ears in 
communities freeing up the trained and more scarce technical 
resources to focus on the work only they can do. These roles 

Page 67



have also provided job opportunities in a climate of high 
unemployment and have opened the door to working within 
public services and the Council. The economic impact of the 
pandemic has created a pool of available workforce who may 
never have considered public sector work before. Those 
appointed come from a range of backgrounds ranging from 
some with limited or no work experience, to ex-army, nurses 
and cabin crew. These jobs may have changed the course of 
some people’s future careers – we need to identify a 
mechanism beyond the short to medium term need to deal with 
Covid issues, to the long term need of the candidates to stay in 
employment, have a resilience pool for the council and use this 
unique resource to support and be the workforce of the future.  
 
Having this pool of potential talent presents an opportunity to 
think differently about the future. There are many areas of the 
Council who could benefit from this pool of staff to be deployed 
across the council when the pandemic is over – and can be 
seen as our future Environmental Health Officers, Planners, 
Engineers, Community Workers and future roles we don’t yet 
know about. It also gives us a unique opportunity for some of 
these staff to continue to work in our communities to build on 
our place shaping agenda – to increase community capital and 
resilience. There is a multitude of opportunities for these people 
who have come into the Council to help support us in our time 
of need – is it time to think about the needs of the Council and 
the public in the future and how we can build on these people. 
 
This will require departments within the Council to think 
differently about the source of future resources, how to deploy 
staff to do things differently or new things. There is 
organisational support to think differently and explore 
opportunities for workforce planning to retain individuals beyond 
their fixed term contracts; to identify opportunities to develop 
individuals with potential into key areas of activity where the 
talent pipeline is scarce. Opportunities to utilise the 
apprenticeship levy to support can also be explored.  
 
We believe that expert input through the LGA consultancy 
would provide a springboard and best chance of success for 
this project. The size of this resource within the workforce 
presents an opportunity to truly put workforce planning and 
talent management into practice and presents an opportunity to 
demonstrate the difference that can be made by adopting a 
strategic approach to workforce planning. 
 

Support Days MHCLG grant 
3 days of funded support 
 

Page 68



Proposed 
support 

 
Talent Management Review  
 
After discussions with Kirklees Council, we propose delivering 
this support in three chosen Services to increase the 
opportunities for the COVID Community Support Officers. 
 

1. Desktop exercise to review the current overarching and 
service-specific recruitment processes and policies as a 
critical friend 

2. Deliver interviews with selected recruiting managers to 
gain an understanding of hard to fill roles in their areas 
and other job roles available (explore the demand) 

3.  Working with the council, explore suitable skills 
development opportunities such as apprenticeships for 
the COVID Community Support offers 

4. Working with the council, support the design and 
development of a draft matching framework and the 
design of a survey to the COVID Community Champions 
(explore the supply) 

5. Working with the council, explore the next steps to set up 
the Talent Pool and matching process 

 
Outputs: 

1. Desktop review (bullet 1) 
2. Virtual interviews with selected recruiting managers, HR 

and OD Officers (bullet 2) 
3. Workshop with recruiting managers, HR and OD Officers 

(bullet 3, 4 and 5) 
4. Final meeting to achieve bullet 5 

 
 

Outcomes 
sought 

A talent pool designed to match interested COVID Community 
Champions with appropriate development opportunities to fill 
suitable and available job roles 
 

Timeline Council leading 
 

End of Project 31 March 2022 
 

Date agreed  
 

Project 
Manager 

Welna Bowden 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Update on Recruitment Challenges
	21-11-02 Appendix 1 Leaver Data
	21-11-02 Appendix 2 Recruitment Data
	21-11-02 Appendix 3 - Employment initiatives guide for managers_July2021
	21-11-02 Appendix 4 Graduate-opportunity-the-GEM-Programme
	21-11-02 Appendix 6 CIPD Report October 21 - Addressing-skills-labour-shortages-post-brexit_tcm18-102313
	NEW labourshortages PROOFREAD.pdf
	Acknowledgements
	Publication information
	1 Introduction
	2 Executive summary
	3 Policy implications
	Adapting the Youth Mobility Scheme
	Unlocking skill potential
	Apprenticeships
	Reforming the Apprenticeship Levy into a training levy
	Improved business support, particularly for SMEs
	Continuing existing employment schemes


	4 Employer recommendations
	Pay and financial wellbeing
	Employment contracts
	Recruitment channels, methods and groups
	Flexible working/inclusion and diversity
	Employee relations and wellbeing
	Learning and development

	5 Overview of labour and skills shortages
	Employers’ response to recruitment difficulties
	Labour supply

	6 A perspective of low-paying sectors
	Retail
	Background
	Recruitment practice
	Labour shortages
	Response to labour shortages
	Impact of the new immigration system

	Transport and storage
	Background
	Recruitment practice
	Labour shortages
	Reasons for recruitment difficulties
	Response to recruitment difficulties
	Impact of the new immigration system

	Social care
	Background
	Recruitment practice
	Labour shortages
	Impact of the new immigration system

	Food processing
	Background
	Recruitment practice
	Labour shortages
	Impact of the new immigration system

	Hospitality
	Background
	Recruitment practices
	Labour shortages
	Response to recruitment difficulties

	Construction
	Background
	Recruitment practices
	Labour shortages
	Response to labour shortages

	Jobseeker group
	Background
	Employment preferences
	Barriers to employment
	Recruitment difficulties
	Government initiatives


	Appendix 1: Survey method
	Weighting

	Appendix 2: Industry-specific focus groups


	21-11-02 Appendix5 LGA Support Programme Kirklees (002)


